Less heat, more light:

(Re-)Assessing Change in Japan's Security Policy

Author: Larissa Sophia Stünkel

Supervisor: Paul O'Shea



Abstract

Since Abe Shinzo returned as Prime Minister of Japan, the question about just where his ambitions will lead Japan have become much more frequent. Through a range of bills and measurements, he has sparked a debate as to whether Japan has seen radical change, or whether it is merely incremental in nature. This thesis contributes by adding a nuanced approach to 'measuring' change in Japan's security policy. By employing a graduated level of change approach, change in its security realm is critically examined. Empirically, this thesis relies on policy documents to establish the extent of change than can be attributed to Abe's administration. The thesis finds that change is visible at different levels, such as effort or methods/means, but that these do not explicitly exhibit a complete reversal of Japan's security posture. While we may not witness a complete reversal of Japan's original security posture, the findings still suggest that Abe has left a lasting impact in the security realm. Thus, contrary to belief, changes in security policy take a variety of forms and should each be acknowledged carefully to make informed judgements. For Japan under Abe, it stands to reason that change has left a decisive mark, which should neither be overestimated in scope nor should it be understood as a purely systemic continuation of previous policies.

Keywords: Security Policy, Abe Shinzo, Japan, Policy change, Graduated levels, Capabilities, Proactive Pacifism, Security cooperation

Acknowledgements

七転び八起き

Falling seven times and getting up eight neatly sums up the last few months. Whilst research is a mostly solitary process, I was lucky enough to get support from many on the way.

Thanks to...

- ...everyone at the Centre, the time in Lund was truly inspiring!
- ...Nina, for your fast responses to any last-minute request, no matter the distance.
- ...the library staff at the centre for your invaluable support.
- ...everyone at Ewha Womans University in South Korea for making me realise what really counts in life.
- ...Waseda University for the great hospitality during the fieldwork course. And to Toru-san for pushing me in the right direction.
- ... my supervisor, Paul O'Shea, for being supportive and encouraging throughout this project and going beyond the call of duty towards the end. Although every comment on earlier drafts seemed to be an intermittent defeat, they ultimately made it as good as it could get.
- ... my friends, who turned every instance of doubt into an opportunity instead.
- ... my family, for making this incredible journey possible and going through all the ups and downs with me. When push came to shove I could always count on you!

Lastly...

... this thesis is dedicated to the memory of my mother – you and your seemingly endless optimism are dearly missed!

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Acknowledgements	2
Acronyms	5
ntroduction	6
Background and relevance	6
Research Question	7
Disposition	8
Literature Review	9
Japan's post- war security policy: change and continuity in perspective	9
Much heat, little light – The debate about change in Japan's security policy	12
Research puzzle and contribution	15
Conceptual model	16
Deliberate choice – discussing the conceptual model	16
A rough demarcation: Security policy as a research area	16
Conceptualising Policy Change	18
Typecasting change – levels and analytical implementation	19
Methodology	22
Research design	22
Ontology & Epistemology	22
Method: Document analysis	23
Operationalisation: Thematic analysis	24
Data collection method	25
Empirical time frame	26
Ethical considerations, reflexivity, and study limitations	26
Analysis	29

Reforming foundations	29
Proactive Pacifism for a change?	32
Japan's capabilities – where change remains ambiguous	36
U.S. alliance – adjustment and reform going hand in hand	39
International security cooperation – reforming engagement	40
Conclusion	43
Recommendations for Future Research	44
References	46

Acronyms

ASDF Air Self Defense Forces

CSD Collective Self-Defense

FPC Foreign Policy Change

MOD Ministry of Defense (Japan)

MOFA Ministry of Foreign Affairs (Japan)

MSDF Maritime Self Defense Forces

NDPG National Defense Programme Guidelines

NSC National Security Council (of Japan)

NSS National Security Strategy (of Japan)

PKO Peace Keeping Operation

PM Prime Minister

SIPRI Stockholm International Peace Research Institute

UN United Nations

US United States of America

Introduction

Background and relevance

"So far, so good..." reads the speech bubble hovering over Abe Shinzo¹'s head, in his hands: a military ship called "nationalistic agenda" and a glass bottle entitled the "Pacifist Constitution" (New York Times 2013). Metaphorically speaking, he sets out to create what does not seem to fit: a large ship could not possible fit through a narrow bottle opening. Back in real life and a range of security related bills and measures later, it appears tempting to proclaim that Abe is doing just that: creating the impossible bottle – attempting to undercut the pacifist constitution post-war Japan's security had been built upon (Maslow 2015, p.751). It is in this light that voices grew louder that with Abe as Prime Minister² "fundamental change [was] in the works" (IFPA 2015, p.2) or that "drastic changes" (Yamagami 2016, p.23) were just around the corner. Is the impossible bottle in the making, or does such assessment "create a lot of heat and very little light" and rely far too much on "ill-defined memes" (Liff 2018)?

While more explicitly pronounced, the notion of change is hardly a new phenomenon in Japan's history, not to mention national security. Change has been manifest on several occasions, ranging from the opening of the country during the Meiji restoration or the quick turns towards fascism and later endorsing pacifism – and these were rather 'drastic' (Hagström and Williamson 2009, p.242; cf. Pyle 2007). The emphasis on economic growth over military power, which the pacifist Yoshida doctrine embodied, was called into question over its continuity in the long-run. Stability and change, two landmark concepts alongside which the debate about Japan's security posture took root. While change was characterised by a mismatch of theory and practice (cf. Arase 2007; Green 2003; Hughes 2004, 2005; Pyle 2007; Samuels 2006, 2007) – an economically strong country with a simultaneously weak military – stood in strong contrast to those who saw a long-lasting impact of pacifist norms and institutions (cf. Berger 1998; Katzenstein and Okawara 1993). Spurred by the end of the Cold War and 9/11 a decade later, this debate reached a peak. At this point, however, it appeared that change was an integral part of foreign and security policy. Therefore, the question no longer asked whether or

¹ Henceforth Abe

² Henceforth PM

not we would witness change, but rather at what rate: incremental³ (slowly changing over time) or radical⁴ (immediate reaction).

With a plethora of academic work having emerged to tackle the question of incremental or radical, one would expect an assessment of this sort to be based on conceptual rigour. Yet, that what is to be explained - change - remains largely under-operationalised. A route commonly taken to assess change is made through an explanatory 'why' lens. While the resulting focus on incremental or radical change stands to reason, it arguably side-lines the explanandum – change. It is at the intersection that this thesis situates itself, setting out to argue that assessing change needs to go beyond a dichotomous 'radical' versus 'incremental' if it was to reveal fruitful assessments about Japan's security policy in the future. It proposes that graduated levels of change are an alternative lens to increase our understanding of what has changed and at what level to deliver an informed judgement. Drawing on Scott and Carter (2016), change can take different forms – adjustment (change in effort of a given policy portfolio), refinement (new means/methods are introduced, goals are persistent), reform (changes to the policy portfolio's goals are made), and restructuring (the overall posture/ guiding principle of a policy portfolio changes). By giving more weight to the explanandum – 'change' - this thesis sets out to provide more 'light' rather than 'heat', both in terms of conceptual operationalisation and Japan's security policy.

Consequently, the main research question and sub-questions are as follows.

Research Question

- a. To what extent has the return of Abe Shinzo as Japan's PM led to an overall altered security policy?
 - a. What has, in fact, changed in Japan's security policy?
 - b. To what level (effort, methods/means, goals, overall posture including goals, means, and purpose) can change be attributed?
 - c. What implications can we derive from a graduated levels of change approach to understand the direction in which Japan's security policy is currently headed?

³ Incremental is also commonly referred to as evolutionary (cf. Liff 2018)

⁴ The literature either also refers to it as revolutionary, drastic, or fundamental (cf. Liff 2018; Pyle 2018).

Throughout this thesis 'incremental' and 'radical' will be used whenever the two positions are highlighted.

Disposition

This thesis is structured as follows. The first chapter, the *Literature Review*, is divided into two sections. The first sketches out Japan's security policy approach since the end of World War II. The second part then fleshes out the concurrent debate about Japan's security posture. This is then followed by how this thesis will contribute. The *Method* chapter outlines the philosophical and methodological foundations informing this project. As such, it will provide both epistemological and ontological considerations, how data was collected and selected, the analytical approach, as well as ethical considerations, reflexivity, and study limitations. Afterwards, the *Conceptual model* elaborates on how basic concepts need to be understood in this present inquiry. The model draws on influential works made in the foreign policy change literature, and more specifically on the graduated levels of change approach. Following from there, in the *Analysis* the conceptual model will be applied towards the current security policy pursued under Abe Shinzo, which is divided into five key themes: policy foundations, the overall policy approach, Japan's capabilities, the US alliance and international security cooperation. In the *Conclusion*, the empirical findings will by synthesised to answer the research question as to what extent security policy can be said to have changed.

Literature Review

This first chapter has two main objectives. The first is to provide an overview over change and continuity in post-war Japan's security policy. It is a necessary requirement to understand the post-war situation before continuing with the second objective, which is to outline the academic debate, its assumptions, and reasoning. This debate about change in, and direction of, Japan's security policy is mapped out in the second half of this section. A critical reading of the literature establishes the current configuration of the debate, but also problematises the very issue at stake: how to understand and classify change for assessing the direction of Japan's security policy. As will be shown below, the literature remains largely ambiguous about the grounds on which change in security policy is being assessed. This research puzzle provides for the niche in which this thesis is situated.

Japan's post- war security policy: change and continuity in perspective

Before the Cold War came to a decisive end, Japan's security policy was largely governed by the Security Treaty with the United States. The treaty was drafted at the end of World War II and Japan's "unconditional acceptance of the Potsdam Declaration" (Honda 2002, p.103). With it came the rewriting of the constitution, which emphasised the "permanent renunciation of war" (Moses and Iwami 2009, p.71) as epitomised by Article 9. Japan thus settled under the U.S.'s "nuclear umbrella" (Fatton 2018, p.3; Maslow 2015, p.742) for security and focused all energy on domestic rebuilding. The so-called Yoshida doctrine, after PM Yoshida, encapsulated minimal defence development with a simultaneously strong economic posture. Strict legislative changes governing arms exports or a non-binding limit of 1% of GDP limit to be spent on defence matters further institutionalised the doctrine's principle of economic growth over military build-up (cf. Hughes 2005, p.21; Maslow 2015, p.743; Pyle 2007, p.32). All in all, Japan's "defensive defense" (Samuels 2006, p.113) was largely persistent throughout the post-war years. It would be wrong, however, to assume that the pacifist ground on which Japan's security policy was built was entirely devoid of change after its initial establishment.

After all, the Yoshida doctrine was not set in stone. With threats looming large during Cold War times, the 'defensive defense' posture appeared no longer feasible in such an increasingly uncertain environment. A 'bulwark against communism', the US strategy shifted

to bolster Japan's posture in East Asia. At this point in time, a first attempt was made to circumvent the restrictions placed on Japan in the form of Article 9 of the constitution. The 1951 "Initial Steps for Rearmament" memorandum formally acknowledged this position by calling for Japan to "embark upon a program of rearmament" (ibid. p.73). With the Korean War being in close vicinity, the memorandum was quickly followed by action. PM Yoshida was instructed by the Supreme Commander of the Allied Forces, General MacArthur, to establish and gradually upgrade the national police force in the name of preserving the "domestic order" (Moses and Iwami 2009, pp.71, 73-74). Arguably, the main reasoning on behalf of Yoshida was to use their establishment as a "bargaining chip" (Honda 2002, p.104) for economic assistance from the US. As Moses and Iwami (2009, p.74) state "Yoshida did not rule out remilitarisation" per se, yet his concern at this time merely reflected the need for economic prosperity and reconstruction. Thus, while it may have been a primarily strategic move by Yoshida to gain economically, a change of Article 9 in the future was not completely out of touch with his own political convictions either (ibid.). In line with the constitutional restrictions, however, the SDF were strictly defensive in character and only meant for the very purpose of their name, which was legally entrenched in the 1957 Basic Policy for National Defence (Fatton 2018; MOD n.d.; Samuels 2007). Throughout the 1960s and 1970s, a range of politicians sought advice on the possibilities of further "freeing up" (Moses and Iwami 2009, p.75) the SDF restrictions, so as to support US missions. This was reflected in the 1960 revision of the US-Japan Security Treaty which emphasised "international peace and security" as a common goal (Moses and Iwami 2009, p.75), which raised eyebrows over constitutional legitimacy and boundaries. In addition, economic prosperity allowed for defense spending to be increased proportionally (ibid. pp.75-76). PM Miki's 1976 1% ceiling was scrutinised by the subsequent Nakasone administration, even though the actual spending capacity, after all, did not increase. Thus, it seems safe to argue that change was never considered a taboo per se, although many of these bills were met with severe domestic opposition (Gordon 2014, pp.272,275).

What for years had guided security policies started to wane in the light of the Cold War coming to an end. Japan's security concerns, which used to be handled for the most part under the U.S.-Japan Security Treaty (Maslow 2015, pp.742-744; Pyle 2007), came under intense pressure both from within Japan as well as the from the US. The event that stood out in the eyes of many commentators was the 1990/91 Gulf Crisis, which was conceived of as a major humiliation for Japan (Catalinac 2007; Howe and Campbell 2013). With domestic resistance putting a swift response on hold, Japan decided to contribute financially, as it had done for many decades, despite calls for a more active role. Grappling with a volley of reproaches from

the international community, the main critique concerned Japan's insufficient contribution, which prioritised "checkbook diplomacy" (Arase 2007, p.567) over actual "boots on the ground" (Kelly and Kubo 2015). After all, the situational 'paralysis' Japan appeared to be in, was only underscored by the considerably traumatic experience of failing to live up to international expectations (Hughes 2005; Takao 2008, pp. 26-28).

It was the accumulation of prior changes to the Yoshida doctrine in combination with the Gulf War crisis that set the scene for policy change to feature more prominently in both public and political debates from now on. Growing uncertainty over the U.S.-Japan security alliance operating outside its original purpose, the end of the Cold War demanded for a quick response to forego further embarrassment for Japan's administration (Berger, Mochizuki and Tsuchiyama 2007, p.4). Therefore, the 1990s and early 2000s saw several initiatives and policy adjustments to allow for Japan to play a more active role (Fatton 2018, p.4). Both within the US-Japan partnership as well as independently did the Japanese government start to further expand previous legal restrictions. As such, the 1992 Peace Keeping Operations (PKO) law enabled the SDF to be send abroad for the first time to be part of UN Peacekeeping missions, such as in Cambodia or the Golan Heights. The legislation came under fire again in 1997 when proposals to expand UN activity even further were passed (Arase 2007, p.567; Berger 1998, pp.191-192; Hughes 2005, p.11). In 2000, a US governmental report, also known as the Armitage report, similarly called for an active increase in contribution and expansion of Japan's security role (Arase 2007, p.570; Hughes 2005, p. 11).

Not long after, the 9/11 attacks spurred the Koizumi administration to quickly send SDF forces in support of the US in the global War Against Terror. Also known as "Operation Enduring Freedom" (Tang 2007, p.25), the move did not fare well with a large section of both the domestic population. As Tang (2007, p.25) notes, the fast-paced 9/11 environment gave rise to a "window of opportunity" to circumvent the UN framework of PKO missions, which had guided the deployment of Japan's SDF up until then. As such, it was the first time Japanese forces were actively engaged abroad without a corresponding UN mandate. Despite growing concerns, the Koizumi government passed an Anti-Terrorism Law in 2001, a War Contingency Law in 2003 and, thus, began to involve Japanese armed forces further beyond constitutional constraints (Tang 2007, p.25; Buszynski 2006, pp.95-96). Referred to as "Koizumi's grand strategy" (Tang 2007, p.26), the security measures taken under his government proved to be decisive for Japan as an international actor, albeit its legal legitimacy remaining contested even today. All in all, it is safe to say that questions about change and continuity were never entirely

absent in policy circles, and changes seemed somewhat frequent after the end of the Cold War. As the following section will show, the debate about just how far Japan would be able to go within its constitutional limits or if it was to abandon this position altogether shaped the interest of many scholars since then.

Much heat, little light – The debate about change in Japan's security policy

Named the "comeback kid" (Dobson 2016, p.1), Abe Shinzo's return to the political stage in 2012 raised suspicion over his security ambitions for Japan. The main question now posed was whether we would now witness a "security revolution" (Pugliese 2017, pp.154-155) if Abe was enabled to further free up, and potentially revise, the constitution. Or, in other words, whether his administrations made ever more decisive changes to Japan's security policy as compared previous PMs (Okano-Heijmans 2012, p.3; Sakaki 2015, p.33). What will not follow is a critical reading of the current literature concerning the status of security policy in Japan. Overall the dividing line among commentators resembles an either-or dichotomy: incremental versus radical. The incremental camp posits that changes made under Abe do not reflect an overall repositioning but contend that these are mere continuations based on past changes without breaking away from past principles. In contrast, the radical camp states that changes to the security posture will have a much more profound impact, as they embody a fast-paced shift as well as an overall break with the past.

A recent symposium report stated that "fundamental change in Japan's capacity and willingness to take strategic action is clearly in the works" (IFPA 2015, p.2). Even though the report also noted that change will not be enforced over-night, it remained somewhat ambiguous about the definition of 'fundamental'. Another commentator, Christopher Hughes, in his recent monograph (2015) asked whether Abe's push in security policy constitutes "new dynamism or a new dead end?". He concludes that, the worst-case scenario, which is a likely one, would be a "dead end", despite security policy having moved to the top of the policy agenda (ibid. p.91). In other words, the ambitious and wide-ranging policy initiatives Abe proposed upon taking office have fallen short in delivering what they were intended to do. Arguably, this recent contribution tones down previous works (2004; 2005) in which he characterised Japan's security policy changes after the Cold War as on the verge of "abandoning many of the most vital elements" (2004, p.240) of its pacifist posture. Nonetheless, his stance still stands strong that change should not be underestimated. Thereby, he echoes Kenneth B. Pyle (2007, p. 374; cf. 2011), who asserted that "Japan is on the threshold of a new era" and that "the Yoshida

Doctrine [...] is a dead letter". Since then Pyle reaffirmed this position, with claims such as that "sea change" was under way (2014, n.p.) or that Japan is about to break-free from its imposed constraints in favour of "activist and assertive" (2018, p.70) policy choices under Abe. Although unsure about the very effect Abe's policy initiatives will ultimately have, he posits that, albeit "quiet" in nature, a "revolution" could not be ruled out (2014, n.p.).

In contrast to these assertions, a more cautious camp of research highlights the still "risk averse" (Curtis 2013, p.2) foundations of Japans security policy. A number of proponents of this camp draw on constructivist theories, meaning that it is not so much the material reality of security policy that is solely decisive for assessing change. Instead, they highlight that normative ideas need to be taken into account as well. The critique is directed towards scholars such as Pyle and Hughes for dismissing crucial issues of national identity, norms, and values which hinder material considerations to be employed fully. Emphasis is placed on the longstanding stable principle of anti-militarism guiding foreign and security policy, which continuous to be a cornerstone in policy-making (Berger 1998; Katzenstein and Okawara 1993; Hagström and Williamson 2009; Welch 2011). Oros (2008, p.198, cf. 2015) states that changes in security legislation are still confined to the paradigm of an "enduring [Pacifist] security identity", disproving the argument that Japan is "once again becom[ing] a great, civilian power". In a similar vein, Berger already noted in 1998 that Japan will "not to succumb to revived dreams of martial glory and the quest for power" but may be required "to become more active" at any point in time if required. Takao (2008, p.142) posits that "Japan continues to display great restraint in its military security policy". For Katzenstein and Okawara (2001), those researchers seeing radical changes are guided by misperceptions about what many referred to as 'normalcy'. The argument that a 'normal' Japan – one that revises Article 9 indefinitely, making space for a regular army rather than self-defense forces and which gives equal weight to military build-up as it does economically – is too Western-centric (Howe and Campbell 2013, p.101).

These concerns raised further doubt about realist assumptions that Japan was on the verge of becoming a 'normal' power simply in capability terms. In other words, despite potential build-ups, the domestic aversion towards a stronger military posture and overseas engagement of the SDF override the material. It was further questioned whether a 'normal' country can only be whose military is equally strong as its economic power, or whether 'normal' may also indicate a pacifist country (ibid.). After all, 'normal' presupposes that 'normal' exists and that Japan was at any point not 'normal' if it seeks to return to such position (ibid.).

Although commentators today also acknowledge that change does happen (cf. Oros 2015), the underlying Pacifist norm could not easily be dismissed as outdated. In a similar vein, Sakaki (2015) accused those of envisioning more radical shifts of overstating the obvious. Although her analysis is largely vested in realist ideals, her standpoint indicates that the current changes under PM Abe do not have the potential to shake the very bedrocks of Japan's security policy (ibid., p.6). She remains sceptical about conceiving of the many security bills and advances as 'radical'. Adam Liff (2015, p. 79) posits a similar point of view and defies that Abe being "Japan's most transformative leader" could not be considered equivalent to a broadly changing security policy. The changes, he continues, have long been prepared and, consequently, should not be reflective of any "abrupt transformations" (ibid. p.80). A range of political and financial obstacles continue to hinder any such development, once again fostering the "evolution, not revolution" (Howe and Campbell 2013, p.100) position.

Whilst both camps have made categorical claims about the future of, and assessment of change within, Japan's security policy, neither offers clear conceptual evidence for how these conclusions came into being. Those positing a radical shift away from Pacifism and Article 9 of the constitution highlight the material capabilities as strong evidence for this hypothesis. Yet, such an assessment begs the question why certain capability configurations would, indeed, constitute a radical change while previous configurations did not. Contrary to this position, those in favour of a strong standing Pacifist norm as well as those highlighting incremental as the ideal classification do neither exhibit clear frameworks for how such assessment was achieved. This has already been picked up by Hagström and Williamson (2009). Their main point of contention was that assessing change was both side-lined and based on seemingly arbitrary yardsticks (ibid.). Their contribution already sought to resolve the ongoing trend of fuzzy concepts but seems to have fallen on deaf ears in the scholarly community. Howe and Campbell (2013) echo a similar view by stating that the extent of change has largely been miscalculated. Both works already hint upon the fact that change rarely takes centre stage in the many analyses. Neither side of the argument is explicit about that what change would entail once there, not to mention the continuous application of an either-or dichotomy which is rarely called into question.

Research puzzle and contribution

As outlined above, the debate concerning Japan's security policy direction is guided to a large degree by questions about why change is more or less likely to be decisive, especially under PM Abe. This is not meant to discredit either strand or the valuable input they offer in terms of explaining change. Rather, the issue at stake is that any claims and assessments about how change should be understood lack a thorough conceptualisation. Considering that change features consistently in most works, it seems striking that hardly any attempts were made to go beyond accepting change as a given fact. Despite efforts to categorise change along the lines of 'incremental' or 'radical', the reasoning behind these classifications is nebulous and dismissive. Arguably, such dichotomy too often obfuscates the extent and content of change. With explanations and many works endorsing the two-sided assessment existing in abundance, a valid next step is to bring conceptual clarity back to the negotiating table. Thus, the research puzzle at hand is how change is best understood and operationalised. In other words, it is timely to shift focus to explicate that what all commentators refer to, but rarely articulately in clear terms. This is where this thesis enters the ongoing debate. It seeks to contribute with a nuanced approach to studying change as exemplified by 'graduated levels' of policy change. Thereby, it aims to bring back conceptual rigour to a debate that for too long worked with unclear concepts, whereby largely creating heat but hardly any light. The next section maps out the conceptual framework which will be employed to study change in Japan's security policy.

Conceptual model

The following section will sketch out the conceptual framework guiding this project. As the goal is to identify the extent of change in security policy under PM Abe, the framework needed to correspond accordingly. Therefore, this chapter starts off by discussing the chosen model in relation to other possible approaches. It then demarcates the research area, namely security policy, its definition and why starting off as such is a key requirement for the conceptual framework. The subsequent section outlines the graduated levels of change approach as emploed in the Foreign Policy Change (FPC) literature. Echoing both the literature on Japan and on FPC, the aim is to be as consistent and clear as possible about "what it is that is to be explained" (Gustavsson 1999, p.75). The overarching aim is to sharpen the investigative lens through which to study policy change and how this approach is operationalised in this thesis.

Deliberate choice – discussing the conceptual model

As it is the aim of this project to go beyond conventional dichotomies in policy change, some models were considered more suitable than others. A graduated level approach allows for a differentiated assessment of change as it occurs at various levels. As Hermann (1990, p.20) notes, it is up to the researcher "to promote the exercise of wisdom in the redirection of policy that may result". Thus, a graduated level approach improves how we can make sense of change, and subsequently address it for our own purposes (Scott and Carter 2016).

A possible path could have been to address the foreign and security decision-making process (Howe and Campbell 2013). Through this lens this thesis may have applied different decision-making approaches, such as the rational actor model, in order to understand why, or why not, Japan's security policy is changing. Due to the specific focus on *why*, this approach was dismissed as it would have again given in to the existing dichotomy, which is the focal point of critique this thesis contends to circumvent. Therefore, a graduated level approach appeared the most suitable.

A rough demarcation: Security policy as a research area

Studying 'security', or 'security policy' brings with it fundamental challenges. With a vast research paradigm to begin with, there exists no singly definition of 'security' (Williams 2008, p.510). As such, defining what security means for this thesis cannot consider

all possibilities. The main challenge lies in providing a workable definition, which echoes instances of previous research on Japan's security policy. Within this literature, much emphasis was placed on more *traditional* conceptions of security. But, before elaborating on this notion, the starting point should be what it means to be 'secure'. What is worth remembering, however, is that this brief section will not encapsulate what decades of research have produced. A basic understanding needs to suffice to establish a common ground and ready-to-use conceptualisation for this project.

Jarvis and Holland (2015, p.22) note that any attempt to define what security means is context dependent. The main question is, what is it that needs to be 'secured' - are people or the state the backbone of security debates (ibid.)? Further, what does it mean to be 'secure' and from what? Even though no real consensus exists, the overarching association for many is that of the defense and military posture, hence the state as that what is in need of security. This notion was strengthened with the onset, and throughout, the Cold War period in which security was almost synonymous with "national (i.e. state) security" (ibid. p.23). The dominance of this realist stance, positing that national security, e.g. its integrity and sovereignty, can only be achieved through material (military) means, persisted. The purely materialist stance to achieve security for the state long went unquestioned, and it was only during the later 20th century that the pessimism of the realist camp came to be challenged. Liberals proposed that through international cooperation and common institutions the inevitability of a realist military competition could be reversed (ibid. p.24). This idea of achieving security by engaging with one another on issues ranging from politics to economics ended purely materialist considerations.

The "traditional" security setting (ibid. p.28) has since been further challenged by newer approaches. The sole focus on a state's "survival" in the international system would not do justice to the wide range of "non-traditional" security threats (ibid. pp.28-29). As such, the "narrow (or traditional) definition" (ibid. p.28) was criticised for neglecting those factors not associated with military might, including "human security", economic disparities, and social injustice (ibid.). It is not difficult, then, to envision why defining security is heavily dependent on context and the underlying assumptions about who and what is to be secured. In recent years, the realm of security studies has long gone beyond a materialist world, proposing that "ideational" factors play a vital role in addition to material conditions (ibid. p.39). In other words, security depends on how it is framed and understood. One example here would be the Copenhagen School, which rests its argument on the assumption that anything could be a

security issue once constructed as such. In other words, it questions that security issues simply come into being, but rather are socially constructed through discursive means (McDonald 2008, pp.68-69).

Each definition and conceptualisation of security has its own purpose. While newer approaches cannot, and shall not, be dismissed, this project's focus lies with a more traditional approaches to defining security. The debate on Japan's security policy relies largely on the traditional conceptualisation, which will be reflected in this thesis. With the aim of contributing to a debate, it seems worthwhile to stay within the given boundaries and to subscribe to the traditional security definition. It is the traditional - national security aspect - that is said to have seen the most changes made to it (see *Literature Review*).

From a perspective of previous research, studying Japan's security policy is limited in scope. Since the most controversy arose from Abe Shinzo's plans and policy initiatives to the realm of security, the debate already sets the boundaries to which this thesis will contribute. Foreign Policy Change as a research area, as the name implies, is concerned with foreign policy in general. Despite the name, the framework works well when applied to aspects, including national security, of foreign policy. Therefore, to forego terminological confusion, the focal point is that of security policy, despite the conceptual framework pertaining to a broader research area.

Conceptualising Policy Change

Having established the basic premises of 'security policy', it is now time to shift attention to the cornerstone of this thesis: policy change. Despite it appearing to be an obvious concept at first sight, from a theoretical point of view it carries a much more ambiguous connotation. Does change imply moving away from previous policies, or does it refer to adding/reducing policy methods and means? Or even entire policy portfolios? All the more surprising, not many attempts have been made to thoroughly operationalise 'change' within the broader literature (Sinko 2016, p.228). The diversity of interpretations (cf. Sinko 2016) range from a claim that policy embodies change (cf. Hermann 1990, p.5) to change being inherently volatile, hence not worth of being studied. With such variety, the prima facie understanding of change as unambiguous requires further scrutiny. A multi-faceted definition of change, without clear boundaries and requirements, falls short in terms of analytical rigour. According to Sinko

(2016, p.232), "change occurs with the change in intrinsic properties [of a policy]", which will be the very focus of this thesis.

In the foreign policy literature change according to Hermann (1990, p) indicates "a reversal or, at least, a profound redirection of a country's foreign policy". Hermann (1990), a pioneer in addressing change as a distinct category in foreign policy analysis, already hints at the nebulous subjectivity the term brings with it. Foreign policy change, he notes, "is one of the most difficult theoretical problems for scholars and policymakers alike" (ibid. 1990, p.5). The cornerstone of contention Hermann (1990), and more recently Sinko (2016), touch upon lies with the inclination within the academic community to *explain* rather than *assess* (cf. Hagström & Williamson 2009, pp. 243-4). As Bauer and Knill highlight in a study on public policy, "[i]t is obvious that the way change is assessed can affect our theoretical conclusions, and yet this problem is rarely made explicit" (2014, p.29). From a policy perspective, foreign and security policy analysis would benefit from a similar shift in the research agenda to explicate how change, once well-defined, can benefit the assessment of policy change. It is in this light that a range of literature emerged to tackle this problem and propose conceptual models, which the next section will now address in more detail.

Typecasting change – levels and analytical implementation

As it is the goal of this thesis to evaluate change in security policy under Abe, the conceptual model had to go beyond the dichotomy used in the literature. Hermann (1990) was one of the first to address the "magnitude of [change]" (ibid., p.3) in a model. It is concerned with what he terms "self-correcting change" (ibid., p.5), which refers to governmental deliberations rather than changes in government itself. After going through the process of identifying the source of change, the "graduated levels of change" are as follows: The first related to "adjustment change", which did not extend beyond the mere "efforts" of a certain policy. In other words, adjusting foreign policy meant a quantitative change in the foreign policy means. The second type refers to a "program change", which, in contrast to adjustments, does imply a qualitative change in the means to achieve certain foreign policy goals. Type three would reconsider the "initial problem", or what it is which should be achieved. Here, the means are not necessarily changed in a similar manner. The most radical change would be found in type four, which alludes to a complete redirection in both foreign policy means and goals.

Hence, his model elaborates on, and distinguishes between levels of change, which would have made it an applicable model for this inquiry.

Since Hermann, others have also contributed to the debate surrounding policy change. Rosati (1994, p.236) similarly considered four types of change: "intensification", "refinement", "reform" and "restructuring". Alongside these levels, change would be assessed in terms of overall policy capacity, targets and scheme. Goldmann (1988, p.10), prior to Hermann, stated that change simply refers to new approaches in already known situations or existing approaches now applicable to new situations. Skidmore (1994, pp.43-64) is probably the closest to how change has been categorised in the current literature on Japan's security policy. It identifies change either as "sporadic" or as "evolutionary". Since this typology of either 'sporadic' or 'evolutionary' is the focal point of critique of this thesis, its applicability remains questionable. Skidmore's typology does not go into depth in comparison to Hermann or Rosati. Gustavsson's (1999) work intended to address what he thought of as lacking dynamism in the literature. His work evaluated the other works in terms of applicability and clarity (cf. Holsti 1982; Goldmann 1988; Carlsnaes 1992; Skidmore 1984; Rosati 1984 cited in Gustavsson 1999, p.74). He concluded that Hermann's typology did not need any further adjustment to be analytically feasible (ibid., p.85).

A more recent attempt to take a closer look at assessing change comes from Eidenfalk (2006 & 2009). Hermann's four types of policy change were not enough, he argues. His contribution added another three layers to differentiate levels of policy change further. The seven layers of change (Eidenfalk 2009, p.52) are defined as: a) "stability", no change detectable, b) "intensification/ reduction", quantitative changes in policy means, c) refinement, qualitative change in policy, d) "reform", a qualitative change including a change in policy means, e) "redirection", new policy goals added, f) reorientation, resembling Hermann's "problem/goal change", and g) restructuring, the ultimate overhaul of foreign policy. Even though a further refinement appears expedient, its added complexity was not as straightforward when applied to data. His approach was exploratively applied to this study's empirical material but did not reveal a more nuanced picture than the four-type typology which was ultimately applied. Therefore, the extra levels did not have added value to the study.

Scott and Carter (2016, p.301), in a study on foreign aid as a tool in US foreign policy, introduced a new typology. It consists of four levels. Loosely similar to the four graduated levels by Hermann, they are as follows (adjusted from Scott and Carter 2016, p.301):

- a. *Adjustment* (either increasing/expanding or decreasing/retracting policy effort; e.g. financial means, more/less receivers, more troops/helpers, all of which does not change the underlying goal of a policy portfolio)
- b. *Refinement* (policy methods/means are changed; the policy goal is not changed, e.g. policy is now handled through financial rather than military means)
- c. *Reform* (policy goal is adjusted and, subsequently, "new initiatives or approaches" are introduced; e.g. security becomes prioritised through new institutional ways or is supplemented by other approaches to achieve security)
- d. *Restructuring* (both goals, means and perceptions of what it is that is to be achieved are changed; e.g. security policy is entirely shifted from cooperation to isolation)

As this thesis sets out to assess change in security policy, the literature on policy change with its refined models for evaluation provide the springboard for the upcoming analysis. To illustrate the typology, a few examples suffice. An adjustment change would, for instance, be an increase in the number of SDF members Japan was to send to support UN missions. If the original method or means of achieving security was a to send financial contributions, a refinement would be if this now was done through the SDF's presence. A reform in Japan's case would be visible if foreign missiles were not considered a viable threat but would now be considered a threat in need of change. As for the highest form of change, it would be if Pacifism was to be entirely abandoned, as this would change the overall posture.

Methodology

This section is designated to the methodological approach governing this qualitative study. At first, it will illustrate how the research design for this thesis was selected, which will then be addressed individually in this section. It starts off by clarifying the ontological and epistemological positioning which will guide this research. Afterwards, the analytical method – document analysis – will be outlined, which includes a discussion on why this method was deemed most suitable followed by how it will be operationalised in this thesis. The ultimate part is designated to a discussion of ethical considerations, reflexivity, as well as the limitations of this thesis.

Research design

The research presented here is of qualitative nature and epitomises a structural perspective (Carlsnaes 2007, p.130). While in social science research 'structural' may rather be referred to in terms of objectivist/positivist, in the subfield of Foreign Policy Analysis the terms are somewhat different although they may connote a similar positioning (ibid.; cf. Bryman 2012, p.28). Even though such worldview does not presuppose a qualitative approach, the position represented here does not deviate much from the literature on security policy change in Japan. The choice of a thematic analysis as a methodology was the result of a careful consideration of that what was going to be the core of the analysis – policy change. The next section will now highlight the epistemological and ontological stances represented by this thesis.

Ontology & Epistemology

As Carlsnaes (2007, p.131) notes, while the theoretical positioning may be easy on paper, it is less straight forward when applied to the real world. What will follow below is therefore a *consideration* of ontology and epistemology, which may not match the empirical reality in minutest detail. Ontology, or the "nature of social entities" (Bryman 2012, p.32), is concerned with whether entities can be considered objectively or whether they are socially constructed. In the realm of foreign policy analysis, these are either termed holistic (objective) or individualistic (socially constructed) (Carlsnaes 2007, p.131). Since the aim of this thesis is not to deconstruct the meaning-making process, the ontological positioning represented here is a *holistic* (*objective*) one. As such, it holds that the social reality can exist outside of individual agency. Corresponding to this ontological position, the epistemological position taken here is that of objectivism (Carlsnaes 2007, p.130) through which "what is (or should be) regarded as

acceptable knowledge" (Bryman 2012, p.27) is addressed. In contrast to interpretivism, which posits that one considers the social world from the "inside" (Carlsnaes, 2007, p.129), an objectivist epistemology takes an "outside" point of view.

Method: Document analysis

The method deemed most suitable for typecasting the extent of change in security policy was a document analysis. It refers to "a systematic procedure for reviewing or evaluating documents" (Bowen 2009, p.27). A document, so Bowen further (ibid.) could be many things, such as a letter, a book, a magazine or a public, or governmental, publication. The process of a document analysis refers to "findings, selecting, appraising (making sense of), and synthesising data" (ibid. p.28). In other words, a document analysis is not merely the process of collecting and using relevant material at the researcher's discretion. Rather, as a method it requires a sensitive approach to the data and its underlying assumptions so as not to risk invalidating both data and findings (ibid.; Bryman 2012, p.543).

Normally, a document analysis would be combined with other qualitative approaches, such as interviews, but could also be found in mixed-method approaches. As such, it is an ideal method for data triangulation (ibid.), in order to forego accusations of only relying on simplistic research methods. Since this thesis is qualitative in nature and interviews were not considered feasible, this will have to be acknowledged as a potential downside. Nonetheless, a document analysis is suitable for the research question posed here and also largely resembles the previous research conducted policy change in Japan, though this is never explicitly marked. While certainly rare, the case for document analysis as a "stand-alone method" has been made and depends on what it is that one seeks to uncover (ibid. p.29).

According to Bowen, document analysis is a vehicle to "[track] change and development" (2009, p.30). In the case of Japan, policy documents are available for many years in online archives and therefore allow for such tracking. For the purpose of this thesis then, document analysis proved to be valuable and could be considered as a single method. However, documents may not give a full picture and need to be seen in the context of research and the questions being asked (ibid.). Even though the process of using documents as the primary data source does not come without its own problems, its advantages allow for an "unobstrusive" and "non-reactive" (Bowen 2009, p.31) research inquiry. In other words, the documents have not been interfered with on the side of the researcher. However, as with every research method, document analysis has "potential flaws", as Bowen (ibid., p.32) notes. Besides issues of

accessibility, the documents should always be analysed within the paradigm within which they were produced. This is to say that there might as well be a political motive or agenda hidden even in official documents, such as governments, ministries or agencies publishing for a particular reason (Atkinson and Coffey 2004, p.57; Bowen 2009).

Moreover, emphasis should be given to the fact that documents are not "stand-alone" (Atkinson and Coffey 2004, p.66) products. Therefore, the documents underlying this research are, on the one hand, individual documents with a particular social reality to them and yet, on the other hand, they need to be assessed within a given context (ibid. p.67). Pertaining to the former, documentary reality as evidence brings with it its own set of problems, including a contorted reality. Thus, when seeking to assess change in Japan's security policy, the documents both stand representative for a given reality and, simultaneously, they were produced for a certain purpose and audience. Therefore, substantiating the official policy documents with other sources is supposed to give a broader picture. Nonetheless, documents in the manner used here, present a type of reality and, thus, contain a shared meaning for a socially organised group (Atkinson and Coffey 1997 cited in Bowen 2009, p.27; Bryman 2012, p.550). After all, it is this reality that gives rise to policy change and, consequently, should be treated as is. In contrast to constructivist approaches, the goal here is to assess the outcome, not the process or implied reality constructs. With these underlying assumptions in mind, the next section will highlight how document analysis as a method was operationalised.

Operationalisation: Thematic analysis

According to Bowen (2009, p.28) document analysis requires "[...] appraising (making sense of), and synthesising data". This still begs the question of how this is best achieved. The process through which 'sense making' took place was through a *thematic analysis*. This is one of two potential ways of how documents may be approached, the other being content analysis (ibid. p.32). For this project, a thematic analysis was deemed most insightful, although a content analysis, both qualitatively and quantitatively (Bryman 2012, pp.290-291), could have been considered, but was dismissed for being largely meant to quantify data (ibid.). This thesis followed the logic of a thematic analysis as outlined by Bowen (2009, p.32). After scanning all potential documents, a subsequent round of reading revealed several codes. These were both derived from the data itself, as recurring themes, while some themes were also pre-confined according to the literature on Japan's security policy under Abe. This came about as a response

to an ongoing debate, which implies that certain aspects of security policy change have caused considerable ruckus among researchers, many of which needed to be considered. The emerging themes were then down-sized to a workable number, while some were dismissed due to lacking relevance. Although all themes were related to policy change, the document itself does always translate into a policy action. This has been kept in mind whenever doubt arose. These "category construction[s]" (Bowen 2009, p.32) were then analysed according to the graduated level of change model outlined in the previous chapter. What follows now is the method used to collect data as well as the sources deemed most informative.

Data collection method

With the aim of problematising and re-assessing changes in security policy, the data collection method was already narrowed down. While interviews were briefly considered, the fact that access to government officials was deemed unfeasible for this project. Instead, data for this thesis is comprised of 'documents'. According to Bowen (2009, p.27), documents may be "words", but also "images" or "cultural artefacts". For this research, only written documents, hence containing words, were chosen. A considerable advantage of this is that the data was retrieved in an "unobtrusive" (ibid. p.31) manner, since they were not produced for the sole purpose of research.

In this thesis, the documents stem from governmental websites and repositories: the Ministry of Defense (MOD), the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA), Japan's Aerospace Exploration Agency (JAXA) and the newly established Acquisition, Technology & Logistics Agency (ATLA). The publications include press conference material as well as policy documents from both MOFA and MOD. For example, the *Defense Programs and Budget* and the *National Defense Program Guidelines* published by the MOD, or the *US-Japan Security Cooperation* guidelines published by the MOFA. Since the focus of this thesis was to analyse the extent of change, the most useful information was found in policy documents. Yet, cross-references to press conference and other website material was found to be of value for data triangulation (Bowen 2009). In the case of capabilities, the manufacturer of certain weaponry was found to be a valuable source for technical information. Similarly, newspaper articles were consulted for uncovering the status of security policies. The information was validated, where possible, in English language media, such as the *Japan Times*. Additionally, the *National Security Strategy* and information about the *National Security Council* were found on the

website hosted by the Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet (Kantei). All documents were accessible publicly and in English.

Empirical time frame

The data collected for this project is broadly consistent with the time Prime Minster Abe Shinzo's second time in office. The fact that the current debate on where Japan's security policy may be headed is largely confined to his second term in office, his first term as Prime Minister from 2006 to 2007 is omitted (BBC 2017). The total time span covered is from January 1st 2013 until late 2017. Although his inauguration was in late 2012, most changes have not occurred until the next year (2013). In other words, the first few weeks in 2012 did not reveal any relevant data for this thesis. Since change does not come in fixed intervals, data collection was continued until the beginning of 2018. Consequently, the thesis neither considers every instance of change in the minutest details nor is policy change constantly present. While for some periods of time a great deal of material was considered relevant, other periods did not lend themselves to scrutiny due to no (or minor) change occurring. Consequently, the time frame had two functions to fulfil. First and foremost, it had to include Abe Shinzo's tenure, since his policy approach caused the most controversy. Second, as the point of inquiry was to assess change by and large, a temporary assessment of policy change would not allow for a generalisable conclusion. At the time of writing (2018), Abe is still in office and likely to stay for some time. From an empirical point of view, excluding most of 2018 runs the risk of leaving out relevant data. Throughout the writing period, the situation was constantly monitored, and major changes would have been included. It appears unlikely that Abe will attempt another go at constitutional revision, even though another plan to do so was put forward in late August 2018 (Japan Times 2018). The internal friction of his LDP on constitutional revision is nowhere near consensus (Jain and Kobayashi 2018).

Ethical considerations, reflexivity, and study limitations

Despite this thesis not relying on interviews or observation, both of which demand careful consideration of being ethical, it is, nonetheless, fundamental for any form of academic inquiry. Even though David Silverman's (2010, p. 152) statement, that "qualitative research inevitably involves contact with human subjects in the 'field'" appears disproportionate, each

project will have to deal with ethics individually (Denscombe 2014, pp. 306-311; Fujii 2012, p.717). Concerning this thesis, the material used is already open source, thus not requiring access to be obtained in any way. In a similar vein, conducting qualitative research based on official documents and publications circumvents potential pitfalls pertaining to protecting participants and their confidentiality (Bryman 2012, pp.148-151). Thus, even if no direct risk or consequences for anyone may be immediately inferred, there exists a certain responsibility on my behalf to address the issue at stake. Conducting a document analysis, one may be tempted to argue that ethical conduct is of no particular relevance. Even though it may be true that analysing documents does not bring with it similar problems, as opposed to ethnographic field work or interviews, being ethical, as in this case, might need to be addressed from a different angle.

I may not be able to predict and control the very notion of 'being ethical', however, what I can – or attempt to – address is that of being reflexive as a researcher. Whilst the above may be mere "procedural ethics" (Guillemin and Gillam 2004, p.263), which gets ticked off without much consideration, being self-critical is not addressed as easily. "Reflexivity" (Guillemin and Gilland 2004, p.274), has become somewhat of a cornerstone in qualitative inquiry. No researcher can, and probably should neither aspire to, be entirely objective when engaging in producing knowledge (ibid.; Sword 1999, p.277). Coming from a particular background and subscribing to particular politics, the position I am about to take is unquestionably biased (Malterud 2001). Therefore, throughout this journey of collecting data, analysing and writing up my findings, I had to be attentive to "self-supervision" (Berger 2013, p.222). Catapulting myself into the vast literature on Japan's foreign and security policy, I was neither a complete outsider, nor could I claim to be an insider either. Not being an insider and setting out to "studying the [largely] unfamiliar" (ibid. p.227) is advantageous, as I do not have a preconceived opinion (ibid. p223). In the following, I seek to be as objective as possible, having acknowledged that "personal and professional meanings [have] permeate[d] [the] analysis" (Sword 1999, p.276). As I am about to engage in a debate about the future of Japan's security policy posture, I hope not to have committed what Berger refers to as "unconscious editing" (2013, pp.221-222), or leaving out of information not considered worthwhile. Throughout the months of writing this thesis, I have tried to envision policy changes from various angles in order to circumvent leaving out important details. Successful or not, this is not up to me judge. Acknowledging that I have come this point due to a particular set of presumptions, I cannot override them completely for the purpose of pure objectivity. Also, as Berger (2013, p.229) further notes, acknowledging that the self is inevitably informing any decision in the research process, this should not be judged as a weakness. More often than not does it enhance the researcher's "credibility" (ibid.) when conducting research work.

In addition to ethical and reflexive considerations, "systemic bias" (Price and Murnan 2004, p.66) in the form of research limitations is another important aspect to cover. As Price and Murnan (2004) highlight, limitations are easily dismissed. Leaving out what could undermine a study's validity "place[s] more credit on a study's findings than warranted" (ibid. p.67). In this regard, a number of limitations should be addressed.

A first potential drawback is the use of English-language translations of originally Japanese documents. The material has been translated by members of the relevant institutions, such as MOFA and MOD, and thus bear the potential of nuances in wording being lost in this process (Bryman 2012, p.314). According to Smith (1996, pp.160-161), "translation often does not quite convey 'original' meanings and association". Therefore, when engaging with already translated Japanese governmental documents implies that there may be a discrepancy in meaning which potentially interferes with the research findings and their subsequent analysis. As such, it is upon me, as a researcher, to ensure that the usage of translated documents does not infringe on the validity of such data. Moreover, using documents from one or several governmental institutions in a language other than the original, it occurred that some data are yet to be made available in English. One example is the website of a newly created governmental agency for the transfer and oversight of weapons and defense technology (ATLA; see *Analysis* section). The website's different sections are all accessible in Japanese, whilst the English-language version is incomplete. However, this was the only instance of non-accessibility, which did not greatly hinder the research process.

Analysis

To what extent has Japan's security policy been subject to change under the Abe administration – is the impossible ship in the making after all? This question is now considered through the lens of graduated levels of policy change as explicated above. Drawing on Scott and Carter's (2016) four level typology – adjustment (change in effort), refinement (change in means/methods), reform (change in goal, new approaches) and restructuring (change in goals, means, and overall purpose) – the aim is to sketch out how change should ideally be understood and assessed for a sound judgement about the future of Japan's security policy. In contrast to applying a dichotomous typology of radical or incremental, the analysis will show that change can take a variety of forms and appear at different levels (effort, means/methods, goal, and a combination of goals, means, and purpose). Thus, a graduated levels approach complicates the picture of security policy assessment in that it gives considerable weight to the explanandum – change. The analysis will therefore proceed as follows: The first section is concerned with the foundations of Japan's security policy, namely the building blocks of how security policy is shaped, including the National Security Strategy (NSS) paper as well as the National Security Council (NSC). The next section then goes on to analyse the general policy approach which the Abe administration pursues: 'Proactive Pacifism' and the measures taken to advance this approach, as well as Japan's capabilities, the US alliance, and international security cooperation.

Reforming foundations

Upon returning to office Abe's position was no easy one. Economically the country was facing strong headwinds, demanding the new administration to boost the domestic economy. Meanwhile, the security environment Japan was facing at that time was no picnic in the park either. Whether it be what many Japanese security experts call China's "salami slicing" strategy (Sakaki 2015, p.9), meaning a step-by-step claiming of disputed territory, or the North Korean atomic weapons programme, the situation was not always stress-free. With a difficult environment, changes to the very foundations of security policy were expected. As Abe himself stated in his inaugural press conference, "[Japan's] security is not someone else's problem" and that "a crisis" was all too present for Japan not to do anything (The Prime Minister and His Cabinet 2012). The following will now examine the changes made to the foundations of Japan's security posture, which is the National Security Strategy (NSS) as a key document as well as

the State Secrecy law and the National Security Council. While all three are key policy approaches, they all have an impact on the structural underpinnings of the security legislation. As they started out as policy proposals, they have become integral structural working parts in the Japanese security apparatus.

With the establishment of the NSS (National Security Strategy) a first step was made to align security strategically (Kantei 2013b). As a document highlighting what Japan's security is going to look like in the long-run, its main purpose is to make explicit the steps and policies needed to achieve security for the country. It has been hailed a milestone to overcome the 'reactive' state hypothesis many commentators have lamented in the immediate post-Cold War period (Kantei 2013b; Maslow 2015). If one was to judge the book by its cover, the overall posture promulgated in the NSS still refers to a Japan with "peaceful" intentions (Kantei 2013b, p.1). Diving deeper, however, the document elucidates that for security policy to be formulated efficiently structural adjustments would be required (ibid.). As the main purpose of the NSS is that of road-mapping, it goes beyond refinement. Refining would only address that new methods or means have been introduced, not that the goal has changed. However, the NSS is much more explicit in its treatment of national security in that it addresses not only how security shall be achieved method-wise. It also gives new impetus for security to be treated in a far more strategic manner than before, therefore, the NSS represents a *reform* of the existing structure.

The NSS itself will be continuously updated and scrutinised through a control organ, called the National Security Council (NSC). According to the NSS (Kantei 2013b, p.2), the council is supposed to function as a "control tower" which facilitates policy-making and implementation. Its formation does not per se indicate any change in security institutions, since it simply replaces the former Security Council dating back to 1986 (Maslow 2015, p.753; MOD 2013, p.105). In contrast to its predecessor, however, the NSC will convene regularly and will be headed by Yachi Shotaro, a close supporter of Abe (Maslow 2015, p.754). Rested firmly within the Prime Minister's Office, the close alliance between Prime Minister and the NSC reconfirms that the NSS as a central tenant reshapes the overall approach to security under Abe at the level of reform.

While it is noteworthy that the NSC is supposed to facilitate how security policy is going to be established in the long-run, the promising intention may come with severe consequences. A first critique hinges upon the questionable nature of the council itself. By doing away with Diet control over security affairs (Maslow 2015, p.755), the Abe government runs the risk of shifting responsibility away from direct civilian control (Fatton 2015; Japan Times 2013). It

may be that only time will be able to tell whether civilian control will, after all, be affected. Considering a recent proposal made to strengthen the position of the Secretary General, Yachi Shotaro, of the NSC with significant leeway given to the council itself to draft security policy, such concerns may not be unsubstantiated (Japan Times 2018). As Fatton (2015) notes, the increased participation of SDF personnel within NSC operations undermines the, thus far, civilian control over security established in the post-war period to a considerable extent. In other words, SDF officials now has almost unhindered access to previously entirely civilian controlled areas of the government. With both accountability and transparency being the core concern, critiques argue that not only does the NSC remove the organ of representation - the Diet - away from a major policy area, it also becomes further disenfranchised through another bill passed in 2013. The State Secrecy Protection Law (Maslow 2015; Japan Times 2013), was designed to broaden the scope of what is to be declared a "special state secret". These secrets will be designated as such upon suggestions of the Prime Minster and are not scrutinised by an external body for control (Repeta 2013). The overall extent of this law will depend upon the Abe government (or follow-up governments) to disclose. Even if no immediate effect might be felt, there exists concern that Japan is headed towards a slippery slope with the NSC and the state secrecy bill. The fact that control has been moved up the ladder, the centralisation does not speak to neither mere adjustments in efforts nor to a refinement in policy means. Instead, the established framework rather concerns the very nature of how security is to be addressed. This includes methods and means, but, first and foremost, it reforms the process of decisionmaking.

In sum, then, the structural changes made to Japan's structural security apparatus allow for an overall classification as *reform*. The policy structure changes do not stray away from the overall security orientation, which is still to secure Japan and its citizens. Yet, the implementation and centralisation at the highest level of government addresses both the key importance of new policy initiatives as well as the impact of these on the policy structure. This is not to say that the changes in the institutional level of security policy will not have substantial consequences. The NSC and the secrecy law both run the risk of overhauling the state-civil relationship in more drastic ways in the future. For now, both represent a new approach used to address a largely unchanging posture. If the foundational level would be further altered, one would potentially have to rethink this classification. One can infer that change is in the making, but it would be too speculative to go beyond reform due to a strong oppositional forces.

Proactive Pacifism for a change?

Turning from the nexus of policy and structure to the policy program pursued under Abe. What stands out, and what many have picked up when assessing change, is the new guiding principle of 'sekkyokuteki heiwashugi' (積極的平和主義), which in the English language is often translated as 'proactive pacifism' or 'proactive contribution to peace' (Kantei 2013b, p.1; Sakaki 2015, p.16). The somewhat contradictory message makes the term a frequently cited reason why Japan is about to see radical changes in its security policy (Sakaki 2015). It conveys that pacifism still guides the security posture, and potentially beyond, whilst adding nuances of renewed energy and focus. As the NSS states, 'proactive pacifism' envisions a closer "international cooperation" (Kantei 2013b, p.1). Thus, the new principle under which Japan will operate adds additional scope and efforts of collaboration. Its implementation raised questions about the durability of the Yoshida doctrine. Four main policies are of interest when elucidating the extent of change and to answer whether the Abe administration has, indeed, been at the forefront of radically changing the overarching approach to security policy: collective self-defense, weapon exports, research and development and the use of outer space. These will now be evaluated individually and their findings will highlight why a detailed analysis of change alongside different levels is crucial for our understanding of the matter.

Up until July 2014, collective self-defense (CSD) was seen as incompatible with the constitutional limits of Article 9. One of the major items on Abe's agenda was to seek revision of the constitution to remove this restriction, which for him are no longer appropriate (Hamilton 2018; Maslow 2015, p.752). It appears, though, that a complete revision of the constitution is still unattainable. The stakes are high for revision, not only would Abe require a two-thirds majority (for both the lower and upper House) in the Diet, he would also need a majority in a referendum, which is not it an easy task with lacking support both from the public and the opposition parties (George Mulgan 2013). Instead 'adding' (*kaken*), or 'stretching' the existing framework, became a workable concession (Hamilton 2018). This form of 'reinterpretation' ultimately led to the passing of legislation which now allows CSD to be partially permitted. Yet, it can only be exercised within strict limits. The "three new conditions" (MOD 2016, p.7) state that: (a) Japan is now allowed to come to the defense of a "foreign country that is in a close relationship with Japan" which, subsequently, results in Japan's own "survival" being at stake, (b) "when there is no other appropriate means available to repeal the attack, and (c) that the "use of force should be limited to the minimum extent necessary" (MOD 2016, p.7). For some

commentators (Sakaki 2015), these requirements are living-proof that CSD does not cross constitutional limits. Green and Hornung (2014) even claimed that envisioning a sea change in this matter would be a "myth" without substance, since it has long been practised before, such as 2009-2010 in Indian Ocean drills to support the US Afghanistan mission (cf. Sakaki 2015). In other words, CSD is neither new nor does it stretch the constitution, as it practically existed all along since the Koizumi years.

The "evolution rather than revolution" (Howe and Campbell 2013; Sakaki 2015, p.19) hypothesis, however, does not correspond well with the findings presented here. From a legal perspective, the discussion whether or not Japan is about to change course indefinitely does not strike a chord with the actual issue at stake. As Wakefield and Craig (2014) note, any reinterpretation of Article 9 further erodes the fundamentals of the constitution, regardless of the strategic implications. If constitutional limits are, in fact, easily dismissed simply by adjusting its interpretative value, any future government may have extensive leeway (ibid.). Besides the questionable legal nature, the strategic implications weigh in on a changing course of the Abe administration. By removing the basic tenet of only individual self-defense, the scope of security operations abroad is now legally attainable. With the 'requirements' for the SDF rather loosely framed, the nature of self-defense could be said to have experienced a *reform*. In this regard, and albeit assessments made to the contrary, CSD does not only change the strategic dimension of Article 9. It, first and foremost, challenges the basic premise of the constitution as it is written? As Hagström and Williamson (2009, p.247) note, any attempt at revising the constitution would constitute an 'international reorientation', or 'restructuring' on Scott and Carter's scale, due to its overall effect on the "bedrocks" of security policy. Thus, the argument that the changes made under Abe are merely pro-forma dismisses change as a sideeffect of already existing conventions. Therefore, the introduction of CSD embodies change at the level of *reform*, as it represents a new approach rather than a change in lower levels.

Apart from CSD, an additional feature of 'Proactive Pacifism' was the revision of the "Three Principles of Defense Equipment and Technology" in order to allow the export and transfer of weaponry internationally (MOFA 2014). Under the banner of pacifism, the 1967 policy almost entirely banned exports, in particular to communist countries, countries under UN arms embargos, as well as countries currently, or likely to become, embroiled in disputes of any form (MOFA 2014). Exceptions existed only within the US-Japan alliance for which no separate legislation was needed, as it drew its legitimacy from the combined security treaty. Whilst the original plans to loosen the transfer and export restrictions were drafted under the

DPJ, the current Abe government passed the legislation indefinitely (Maslow 2015, p.760). The new legislation could arguably constitute a complete restructuring. If the overall purpose is changed, which may be the case when defense technology transfers were allowed without restriction, then this classification would hold true. However, the ban has not been lifted entirely and continues to prohibit a range of cases. So are transfers which "violate obligations under treaties [and] international agreements" and to countries which are "party to a conflict" still forbidden (MOFA 2014; MOD n.d.). Even though these restrictions appear tight, it is striking that the 'Second Principle' notes that if the transfer process was to contribute actively to either international or Japanese security, the restrictions would not be applicable and would consequently allow more transfers of this sort. As a case in point, Japan has transferred two TC-90 King Air aircraft to the Philippines in 2017 with three more to be delivered throughout 2018 (Cruz de Castro 2016; SIPRI 2018). The reconnaissance aircraft are used to conduct surveillance operations. The fast-paced deal and the nature of the aircraft give rise to the assumption that urgency reigns in on finalising deals in light of Chinese expansions in the South China Sea (Cruz de Castro 2016). It appears safe to argue that the means and methods through which defense transfers are going to be handled open new pathways. Thus the changes may be assigned a slot in between reform (in the long run: restructuring).

Under the banner of loosened defense equipment transfers, another niche opened up for Japan to promote changes. R&D (research and development) efforts have become an integral part of Japan's National Defense Program Guidelines (2013) and the NSS (2014). The former states that "[R&D] is essential" since what is going to be developed needs to "fit[s] the operational environment" (MOD 2013, pp.26, 28). The goal set by the MOD to "utilize civilian technology" for R&D purposes comes at a crucial cross-road of fiscal difficulties and the need to foster home-grown efforts. Aiming at developing close links with civilian institutions, including independent research facilities, the research efforts for civilian technology can now be used for military purposes as well (ibid.). An officially passed statement put forward by the Science Council of Japan in 2017 voiced concern and called on scientists to "boycott" the ministry's decision (The Mainichi Shimbun 2017b). Since this niche cannot be considered a mere adjustment to efforts as it breaks down existing civil-military boundaries, the classification of R&D under 'proactive pacifism' represents a *reform*.

Another merger of significant value came with the designation of Japan's Space Agency (JAXA) as a "National Research and Development Agency" (JAXA n.d.). The consortium is comprised of the agency for "Space and Astronautical Science", "National Aerospace

Laboratory of Japan", and the "National Space Development Agency of Japan" (ibid.). For purposes of national security the Abe administration revised the "Basic Plan on Space Policy" in 2013. It thereby replaces the 2008 version of the document and marks that adjustments have been made to the institutional structure of JAXA. With the new plan, JAXA's oversight was moved to the Cabinet Office under the 'Law for Partial Amendment of Laws for Establishment of Cabinet Office' (sic) (ibid.). It confirms that the dual-use statute shall also be pursued in space research. To decrease "overdependence on governmental investment in R&D", space technology is now just as much a dual-use endeavour as other defense related measures. JAXA's main purpose is two-fold. On the one hand, it was established to strengthen Japan's own surveillance and reconnaissance capabilities vis-à-vis a deteriorating security environment. By that it refers to both threats from North Korea or China's activities in the maritime sphere (ibid., p.7), but also to ensure that Japan is sufficiently equipped to handle environmental disasters, such as the Great Japan Earthquake in 2011, via better land-observing satellites (Strategic Headquarters for Space Policy 2013, p. 5). On the other hand, JAXA now handles cooperation with other countries on surveillance and reconnaissance. Under the veil of fiscal constraints, Japan promoted space cooperation with Turkey and Vietnam (MOFA 2016). Strikingly, the Basic Policy on Space's call for the "peaceful utilisation of outer space" (2013, p.34) now becomes an ambiguous symbol of enlarging the security radius in which Japan operates. The duality of expanding and simultaneously advocating for limiting the use of space for only peaceful means fits within the 'Proactive Pacifism' strategy. The case of new outer space guidelines matches the central idea of 'proactive pacifism'. Thus it marks a reform of existing policy approaches by adding new means and methods (dual-use technology) but also altering the goal of actively using space for the sake of security.

To sum up, the notion of 'proactive pacifism' as stipulated by the current administration has altered the basic idea of security policy. Most of the changes outlined above amount to *reform*. Rather than simply widening the scope of previous policies, which would be an adjustment, the evidence suggests that both the goal and the methods and means were altered. The goal of 'proactive pacifism' to boost Japan's activity record and make use of previously closed channels thus makes for a *reform* of the security posture. The evidence does not speak for a sea change in the security approach under the new banner of 'proactive pacifism'. All of this is not to say that the overall purpose of Japan's security policy is not changing after all, this argument may require being dusted off again in the future. Yet, the situation as it is, envisions Japan with a similar overall posture and purpose, solely the goal is now one of increased activity and new approaches to achieve this active position. All in all, the assessment here cannot attest

that Japan is on the verge of a radical change in its security posture. The following will assess in more detail the three key pillars of Japan's security policy, its own capabilities, the US-Japan alliance, and international cooperation.

Japan's capabilities – where change remains ambiguous

The "independent efforts" (MOD 2013, p.6) as the new defense guidelines refer to them concern the build-up and maintenance of Japan's own capabilities. Overall, the governmental reports and defense strategies all outline a stronger defense posture with better equipment for the SDF to respond to a number of different scenarios. As the NDPG (ibid. pp.7-8) state, capabilities should be "adequate both in quantity and quality that underpin various activities". This is particularly relevant to areas of concern, such as remote islands (e.g. Diayou/Senkaku), airspace incursions, and nuclear missiles from North Korea. With an alleged risk increase in all of these areas, possessing capabilities to deter any such threat were deemed necessary, which was reflected in the yearly defense budget and procurement and maintenance plans (MOD 2013, p.14).

A possible reform can be seen with the Maritime Self Defense Forces (MSDF). The introduction of "helicopter destroyers" (MOD 2013a, p.5) earned severe critique. This was guided towards the fact the destroyers are de facto aircraft carriers, which would indicate that it is no longer a new approach, but an in toto reversal of the purpose of these ships. The government has so far repudiated any such claims and relegate to the fact that the new Izumo class ships do not cater to the needs and equipment necessary for a full-fledged aircraft carrier (Wallace 2013 a,b). The "aircraft carrier in disguise" (Wallace 2013 a,b), mirrors the ambiguity associated with procuring anything with "war potential" (ibid.), and thus further stretching the constitutional limits of a defensive security posture. The reassurance of the government to not make use of it as an aircraft carrier should, in all respect, be taken with a pinch of salt. As of now, however, the Izumo class does not represent a full restructuring, since the Izumo is supposed to carry helicopters, which supports that these changes are a refinement (Wallace 2013). Only if Japan was to acquire F35B fixed-wing aircraft and simultaneously equip the Izumo with vertical/short take-off and landing capability (ibid.) could one assume that it would be more than a refinement. If Japan was to acquire these aircraft, then it may reverse any claim of being defensive, which would have to be reflected in attributing it the highest level of change - restructuring.

Moreover, the MSDF's submarines currently in use are mostly refitted with new "intelligence gathering" (MOD 2017, p.5) capabilities, which does not represent an adjustment change due to the existing technology being upgraded. A potential restructuring might be seen in the acquiring of new diesel-electric submarines which have torpedo and harpoon missile launch capabilities, and, compared to previous submarines, are quiet (Mizokami 2014, 2016). With these capabilities built into the new Soryu class submarines their introduction is more than a simple adjustment change. As Hagström and Williamson (2009, p.251) noted in an early assessment of Japanese submarines, any form of missile capability increases the "tactical benefits" of the submarine to a considerable extent. As such, the submarines have achieved a *refinement* of the methods and means for anti-submarine warfare. What makes it a refinement rather than a reform or restructuring is the range the submarine can travel, which is about 6,100 nautical miles (Mizokami 2016). In this regard, the purpose of the Soryu remains confined to Japanese waters, despite their capability upgrade being all but insignificant.

Next in line are the Air Self-Defense Forces which still operate the PAC-3 missile interceptors, which had already been in place before Abe returned as PM. Thus, under this premiership, the ASDF's equipment for intercept ballistic missiles has not been upgraded. A yet unofficial plan Tokyo's to extend the range of PAC-3 missiles in light of advances in the North Korean missile programme and the Olympic Games in 2020, would have to be considered a *reform*, since the original goal of only defending Japanese islands would no longer apply (Kelly and Kubo 2016a). Additionally, the ASDF fighter jets have seen not only a face lift, but the introduction of entirely new aircraft. The 2014 budget mentions the acquisition of the F35A, which, however, would not replace but come in addition to the already existing F15 and F2 (MOD 2014). The new aircraft would come with enhanced capabilities such as night vision, which considerably extends the usage of the aircraft, thus marking a refinement rather a simple adjustment change. Japan's F15 will be upgraded with new radar capabilities, hence the changes here do not go beyond *adjustment* changes.

These developments beg the question whether Japan possess the necessary means for a first-strike capability. As Hagström and Williamson already noted in 2009 (p.252), this debate has long been under way in Japan. From a capability point of view, Japan's SDF have the necessary means to engage in pre-emptive strikes. In-flight refuelling has long been introduced in the form of a Boeing KC-767, with three additional ordered of which one is already in operation (MOD 2013a; MOD 2017). This could be seen as an *adjustment* change, since it does neither add new means nor goals, but expands existing capabilities. According to Lockheed

Martin (n.d.), the newly acquired F35A have in-flight refuelling built in, and the already operational F15 also possess this capability, which ASDF pilots have already put to the test in 2010 (US Pacific Forces 2010). Thus, in addition to the capability itself, pilots have received substantial training and can make use of it if required (ibid.). This not to say, however, that Tokyo will never consider this capability. Consequently, the additional acquisition of tankers for in-flight refuelling and fighter jets capable of an extended flying range when refuelled midair, this is only an adjustment since the technology already existed before Abe returned as PM (Hagström and Williamson 2009, p.252).

Moreover, Tokyo set out to upgrade its information gathering by investing in further radar stations, predominantly in Okinawa prefecture as well as Hokkaido. Fixed FPS-7 radar stations were introduced with enhanced detection capabilities, which is indicative of coastal and island surveillance operations being enhanced (MOD 2017, p.6). One of the stations was placed on Yonaguni, the island closest to Taiwan and now is the most western-ward radar station for Japan (Kelly and Kubo 2016b). Since the fixed radar stations exist in numerous places throughout Japan, it seems unreasonable to classify the introduction of new stations as more than adjustment in the scope. Although renewed focus is on the protection of remote islands, the technology has not been upgraded but comes in addition to stations on Japan's main islands. In contrast, the introduction of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV), commonly referred to as drones, represents a refinement. With vast areas of sea and islands spread to the West of Japan, the RQ-4B Global Hawk was acquired to support reconnaissance and information gathering whereby supplementing fixed radar stations (MOD 2017). Thus far only one was delivered but two more are ordered (ibid.). In contrast to fixed radar stations, UAVs are a much more flexible tool for the SDF to pursue information gathering and step-up surveillance of remote island territory. Thus, they add a new means to an existing problem in that the technological base and flexibility were previously not attainable.

In sum, the qualitative analysis of Japan's capabilities exhibits instances of *adjustment*, *refinement*, and *reform*. Change, thus, happened largely in efforts (such as increasing the number of in-flight refuelling aircraft or an increase in fixed radar stations) or the introduction of new means to handle existing problems (such as unmanned aerial vehicles). For now, change under the Abe administration in Japan's capabilities are largely confined to upgrading existing technology for already existing goals and problems. Thus, while some may state that Japan is ramping up its capabilities, there exists evidence that, while the technology is there, it would require considerable investment to refit helicopter carriers for full-fledged aircraft carriers, for

example. This is not to say that such change will never happen. It exhibits that the purpose of acquiring certain capabilities was done with a purpose other than 'war-potential' in mind, atleast for now.

U.S. alliance – adjustment and reform going hand in hand

As one of the key pillars of Japan's security policy, the alliance between Japan and the US remains largely untouched. The 1997 'Defense Cooperation Guidelines', already then a revised version, underwent another revision in the years 2014-2015, with the final version being complete in 2015. Characterised as "indispensable" (MOFA 2015; US DOD 2015), the new version of 2015 relies on the same strategic framework and goals to be achieved as its 1997 predecessor. Thus, with the goal unchanged, the alliance could not have undergone a reform under the Abe administration, since this classification would imply that the goal of a given initiative would have changed. However, this is not to say that we could not witness change after all.

A few points have been addressed, but their scope does not give reason to attest change beyond scope and means. Primarily, the alliance shall now operate "seamlessly" (USDOD 2015, p.3), which enhances the intensity relationship between the US and Japan more than it changes its foundations. This would likely constitute an *adjustment* change. This is substantiated by the fact that the alliance will "[include] situations when an armed attack against Japan is not involved" (USDOD 2015, p.4). A yearly joint exercise held in the US called "Iron Fist", which is meant to strengthen the interoperability of the armed forces of both countries, has seen a steady increase in the number of armed forces sent by Japan (Mauricio 2014). The expansion of joint exercises in scope also speaks to an overall *adjustment*. However, the introduction of new amphibious vehicles by the SDF in this context (Mauricio 2014) also adds a new means of conducting the joint exercises, but still within given limits.

Another area of expanding scope, or *adjustment*, would be the introduction of "chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear (CBNR)" weaponry as areas of concerns (USDOD 2015, p.16). The same applies to space and cyberspace security, which moved up in the agenda, not just for the alliance but also domestically in Japan. For all the added areas, there exists potential for new methods and means to be introduced due to the very nature of the areas themselves. Each requires new technology and specific skill sets, but, as of now, the cooperation is still in the making and its extent yet unknown.

The 2015 guidelines still emphasise that anything Japan would be involved in is "in accordance with [its] respective constitution" (USDOD 2015, p.2). With the new "Legislation for Peace" (MOD 2016) and CSD now officially in place, the alliance has gained the most in this regard. This would constitute a counter-argument to the above in that the revised guidelines may also expand the scope, if CSD was to be made use of. This stands in stark contrast to Sakaki's (2015) analysis, which did not draw a connection between CSD and the US alliance and, subsequently, did not characterise the US alliance as an area of *reform*. The constitutional barrier now pushed further, the SDF are able to contribute to the alliance with a stronger mandate. While it may be true that the move to allow for collective self-defense legalises what might have been practised before, it appears to underestimate implication of the new changes. In this regard, the possibility of Japanese forces protecting weaponry and other military equipment abroad does alter the original framework (MOD 2016). In this regard, it represents a new approach with a reworked purpose of intensifying the relations, i.e. a *reform*.

In sum, the alliance remains a stead-fast pillar for Japan's security policy. Both sides have agreed to strengthen their position, albeit under existing restrictions. With the expansion of scope on a range of security related issues, the change may overall be classified as *adjustment*. As the analysis has shown, however, the alliance can now make use of new channels of cooperation previously ambiguous from a legal perspective. With CSD, the alliance does gain new impetus, exhibiting change along the lines of a *reform*.

International security cooperation – reforming engagement

Another aspect of Abe's proactive security vision concerned the internationalisation of potential security threats and, subsequently, the need to enhance this branch of security policy. Besides Japan's own efforts and the US alliance, cooperative measures with other countries moved up the priority ladder. Due to an ever-increasing level of global interconnectedness, the NDPG (2014, p.2) highlights that national security can no longer be a solely national exercise. "Countries which share interests" (MOD NDPG 2014, p.2), so the official stance, were subsequently of strategic interest to Japan's security objective. It is in this light that both bilateral and multilateral efforts are key areas which have seen less coverage compared to the other areas analysed above.

Given the North Korean missile programme, Japan and South Korea have increased cooperation. In late 2016, an already long overdue deal to share intelligence information about the status of North Korean missiles came into force (Sakai 2017; Park and Yun 2016). The

"General Security of Military Information Agreement", or GSOMIA, was supposed to facilitate the sharing of data on all issues related to North Korea's capabilities and advances. Besides its legal status, GSOMIA, now enables direct cooperation between Japan and South Korea. Previously pushed forward by the Obama administration, thus through the US, the agreement now operates directly. (Fackler 2014; Park and Yun 2016). Since the deal had already been drawn up before, but has only now reached implementation, it constitutes more than an adjustment change. Also, since the agreement's predecessor came to life before Abe's return, the overall deal may not be counted as an entirely new approach to security, hence it is neither a reform. Consequently, it shall be categorised as a *refinement*. It underlines the Abe administration's enduring position towards cooperation, despite North Korean objections (Johnson 2018).

While GSOMIA largely focusses on North Korean missiles and nuclear weapon arsenals, the NDPG from 2014 highlighted the key role Australia could play in maritime security (MOD 2014, p.5). Australia, so the NDPG, is of strategic importance for a number of reasons. First, maritime security concerns in the South China Sea have an impact on both Australia and Japan. Both countries have critiqued China for extending its sphere of influence in the area and have set goals to conduct regular training exercises. Second, both countries have previously signed a common framework agreement to collaborate under the banner of UN PKOs (MOFA 2010). The agreement has yet to be fully finalised, since harsh critique from China has caused controversy to arise in Australia over the scope of such an agreement in alienating their relations. Since security is in no way a new area to be covered, the Abe administration's efforts to tighten cooperation may only add up to new means and methods being added to pre-existing goals of ensuring peace and stability, making it a *refinement* rather than a comprehensive reform.

Additionally, Abe proposed a "Democratic Security Diamond" (Abe 2012), which would encompass the US, Australia, and India. The rationale, so Abe, was to effectively and inclusively insure that the Pacific Ocean remains a sphere of "peace, stability, and freedom of navigation" (ibid.). The fact that much of Japan's trade needs to manoeuvre through both the South China Sea and the Pacific Ocean al, the call for "freedom of navigation" does not surprise. The sea lanes as "common good" were being turned into "a 'Lake Beijing'" (ibid.). "Driven by [...] anxieties about a rising China" (Lee and Lee 2016, pp.289-290) "Japan under Abe is not sitting still". As of today, however (2018), the initiative remains wishful thinking. If it was to push forward to implement the initiative, Japan would have broadened its spherical scope of security policy, which would only amount to *adjustment* change.

In sum, the cooperative mechanisms through which security is promoted have undergone changes, but these are far from radical. The evidence highlighted both *refinements* and *reforms*, with more changes being made to the methods rather than goals. However, it is similarly worth noting that the scope has been considerably broadened. Not only are further non-US arrangements on the rise, which highlight the need to diversify the collaborative aspect of security beyond US-centrism. The aim appears to be a wider range of security cooperation in the name of freedom, prosperity and the rule of law. How bilateral and multilateral initiatives would ultimately play out and how they might reign in on future assessments of Japan's security policy remains to be seen, since many proposals have yet to materialise.

Conclusion

This thesis has adopted graduated levels approach change, and more specifically policy change in Japan's security realm of foreign policy. Drawing on Scott and Carter (2016), the aim was to shed new light on a gridlocked debate by problematising the established incremental-radical dichotomy. Instead of asking whether Japan's security policy was changing along these given lines, the thesis asked to what extent, and concurrently at what level, security policy under the Abe administration could be said to have changed. By doing so, this thesis finds its niche in overcoming the side-lining of the explanandum – 'change'. It subsequently sought to highlight the implications of a graduated level approach when dealing with question of policy change. The analysis went into depth on a range of issues pertaining to national security, these were the policy foundations, the legislative 'Proactive Pacifism', Japan's capabilities, the US alliance as well as international cooperation. Each section revealed numerous levels of change based on Scott and Carter's (2016) four level typology, ranging from adjustments to restructuring.

As shown above, the analysis did not yield any evidence relating to the highest level of change, restructuring. Neither of the categories analysed gave rise to the impression that Japan's overarching posture — of defending Japan and doing so within persistent constitutional and regulatory limits — has been altered to a large extent under the Abe administration. The foundations of security policy remained confined to refinement or reform. In other words, they address methods/ means and goals/ new approaches but remain silent on a changing international posture. The same holds true for 'Proactive Pacifism' as the new general security policy approach. In the qualitative analysis of Japan's capabilities, the evidence suggests that most change occurred along the lines of adjustment and refinement, hence in the overall effort and means employed. The notion of 'war-potential' remains ambiguous but does not allow for another classification due to persisting limits. As for the US alliance, Japan has made efforts to strengthen the alliance, but in most instances in terms of effort or the changing of goals. In the realm of international cooperation, we can witness increase in both means/methods and goals, which functions as an addition rather than a substitution of the US alliance, which remains strong.

Despite several different levels of change found in the analysis, one key finding is that the incremental-radical dichotomy commonly employed does not offer a similarly nuanced assessment of change. Its applicability might require rethinking. The debate arguably created much heat by employing an either-or lens but strayed away from shedding light on the very concept of change itself. When seen through a graduated level of change lens, albeit the highest form remaining absent under Abe, a dichotomous assessment dismisses a complex concept all too easily. The 'radical' change argument fails to integrate that changes at the level of adjustment and refinement are many, as this work has shown. Changes at these levels do not automatically translate into an overall posture change, since an increase or decrease in effort or a change in means and methods does not need to have an impact on the posture after all. Similarly, those positing that change is merely incremental, might brush aside changes at reform level, or potentially refinement as well, as systemic or sequential. By that definition, change would have to be considered symptomatic rather than atypical, and worthy of being studied. While Abe certainly has been unable to push for more ambitious change, the changes that have been made will have a lasting impact on Japan's security posture in the long-run. Consequently, neither camp can fully capture the nuances and levels at which change may occur. A graduated approach, however, highlights differences and thus enables a fine-grained assessment of policy change and its implications.

In conclusion, what does a graduated level approach imply for Japan's security posture? While a range of measures alter the ways in which Japan can address both old and new threats to its national security, the overall posture remains largely intact. Yet, this does mean that its posture will not change soon, even though it currently is less likely. Instead, policy change in Japan should be understood as change at particular levels. For Japan it indicates a broader engagement with security than before, albeit one which may have to be taken with a pinch of salt. For East Asia, Japan's security posture does not so much mirror a militarised past as it does emphasise an active policy posture.

Recommendations for Future Research

Whilst answering the research question outlined above, a number of potential areas and questions for future research emerged. Starting with the more obvious, this thesis is empirically limited. Still in office, Abe may propose more legislative changes which would require a reassessment. Similarly, one might want to ask whether the approach as it stands now is suitable for future research. The graduated levels may need to be refined to fit different purposes and questions. This is a pressing issue, as mentioned in the Conceptual Framework section, since Eidenfalk (2006, 2009) sought to refine the levels by adding an additional three. However, the refinement catered to a specific set of questions and concepts, making his changes not

universally applicable. Nonetheless, the approach has yielded a much more nuanced assessment of change, which could be considered for further application in Japan's foreign policy more generally, but also possibly beyond.

Besides, future research might want to consider examining the conceptual model across Japanese Prime Ministers. There might be differences which this thesis could not establish, since the sole focus was on the current Abe administration. These differences might be structural or political but should be considered as a difference in these areas might interfere with the applicability of the conceptual model. Thus, to examine change in Japan's security policy more broadly it would require a comparative approach. Additionally, a niche persists in the application of the conceptual framework across theoretical paradigms.

References

- Atkinson, P. and Coffey, A., 2004. Analysing documentary realities. In: D. Silverman, ed., 2004.

 Qualitative Research Theory, Method and Practice. London: SAGE Publications.

 *Ch.4.
- Arase, D., 2007. Japan, the Active State?: Security Policy after 9/11. *Asian Survey*, 47(4), pp.560-583.
- Bauer, M.W. and Knill, C., 2014. A Conceptual Framework for the Comparative Analysis of Policy Chang: Measurement, Explanation and Strategies of Policy Dismantling. *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice*, 16(1), pp.28-44.
- BBC, 2017. Japan election: Shinzo Abe set for record tenure. *BBC News*, [online] 23 October. Available at: http://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-19725705 (Accessed 4 June 2018).
- Berger, R., 2013. Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), pp.219-234.
- Berger, T.U., 1998. *Cultures of Antimilitarism National Security in Germany and Japan*.

 Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press.
- Berger, T.U., Mochizuki, M.M. and Tsuchiyama, J. eds., 2007. *Japan in International Politics The Foreign Policies of an Adaptive State*. Boulder and London: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Bowen, G., 2009. Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), pp.27-40.
- Bryman, A., 2012. Social Research Methods. 4th ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Buszynski, L., 2006. Japans Security Policy in the Koizumi Era. *Security Challenges*, 2(3), pp.93-107.
- Carlsnaes, W., 2007. International Relations and Foreign Policy Analysis. *Statsvetenskaplig Tidskrift*, 109(2), pp.128-132.
- Catalinac, A.L., 2007. Identity Theory and Foreign Policy: Explaining Japan's Responses to the 1991 Gulf War and the 2003 War in Iraq. *Politics & Policy*, 35(1), pp. 58-100.

- Cruz de Castro, R., 2016. The Philippines and Japan sign new defense agreement. *Asia Maritime Transparency Initiative*, [online] 15 March. Available at:
 - https://amti.csis.org/the-philippines-and-japan-sign-new-defense-agreement/ [Accessed 1 June 2018].
- Curtis, G.L., 2013. Japan's Cautious Hawks. Foreign Affairs, March/April, pp.1-7.
- Denscombe, M., 2014. *The Good Research Guide For small-scale social research projects*. 5th ed. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press.
- Dobson, H., 2016. Is Japan Really Back? The "Abe Doctrine" and Global Governance. *Journal of Contemporary Asia*, [e-journal] 47(1), pp. 1-26. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00472336.2016.1257044.
- Eidenfalk, J., 2006. Towards a New Model of Foreign Policy Change. In: Goldsmith, B. eds. Australasian Political Studies Association, *Australasian Political Studies Association conference*. Newcastle (UK), 25-27 September 2006. Wollongong: University of Wollongong.
- Eidenfalk, J., 2009. A window of opportunity? Australian foreign policy change towards East Timor 1998-99 and Solomon Islands 2003. PhD. University of Wollongong. Available at: http://ro.uow.edu.au/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4446&context=theses [Accessed 24 March 2018].
- Fackler, M., 2014. Japan and South Korea Vow to Share Intelligence About North via the U.S. *The New York Times*, [online] 29 December. Available at:
 - https://www.nytimes.com/2014/12/30/world/asia/japan-south-korea-north-intelligence.html? r=0 [Accessed 7 August 2018].
- Fatton, L.P., 2015. Do Shinzo Abe's Defense Initiatives Matter? How Japan's new civil-military relations change its security posture and policy. *The Diplomat*, [online] 23 June. Available at:
 - https://thediplomat.com/2015/06/do-shinzo-abes-defense-initiatives-matter/ [Accessed 3 June 2018].
- Fatton, L. P., 2018. A new spear in Asia: why is Japan moving toward autonomous defense? *International Relations of the Asia-Pacific*, pp.1-29.

- Fujii, L.A., 2012. Research Ethics 101: Dilemmas and Responsibilities. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 45(4), pp.717-723.
- George Mulgan, A., 2013. Abe rocks Japan's constitutional boat. *East Asia Forum*, [online] 21 May. Available at:
 - http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2013/05/21/abe-rocks-japans-constitutional-boat/ [Accessed 1 August 2018].
- Goldmann, K., 1988. Change and Stability in the International System: The Problems and Possibilities of Détente. New York: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Gordon, A., 2014. *A Modern History of Japan From Tokugawa Times to the Present*. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Green, M., 2003. *Japan's Reluctant Realism: Foreign Policy Challenges in an Era of Uncertain Power*. Basingstoke (UK): Palgrave.
- Green, M. and Hornung, J.W., 2014. The Myths about Japan's Collective Self-Defense Change. *The Diplomat*, [online] 10 July. Available at:
 - https://thediplomat.com/2014/07/ten-myths-about-japans-collective-self-defense-change/ [Accessed 20 July 2018].
- Guillemin, M. and Gillam, L., 2004. Ethics, Reflexivity, and "Ethically Important Moments" in Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 10(2), pp.261-280.
- Gustavsson, J., 1999. How should we study foreign policy change? *Cooperation and Conflict*, 34(1), pp.73-95.
- Hagström, L. and Williamson, J., 2009. "Remilitarization," Really? Assessing Change in Japanese Foreign Security Policy. *Asian Security*, 5(3), pp. 242-272.
- Hamilton, D., 2018. Will Abe's constitutional concessions be enough? *East Asia Forum*, [online] 8 March. Available at: http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2018/03/08/will-abes-constitutional-concessions-be-enough/ [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- Hermann, C.F., 1990. Changing Course: When Governments Choose to Redirect Foreign Policy. *International Studies Quarterly*, 34(1), pp. 3-21.
- Honda, M., 2002. Paradigm Shift Japan's Foreign Policy in the New Era. *Georgetown Journal of International Affairs*, 103 (Winter/Spring), pp. 103-109.

- Howe, B.M. and Campbell, J.R., 2013. Continuity and Change: Evolution, Not Revolution, in Japan's Foreign and Security Policy Under the DPJ. *Asian Perspective*, 37, pp.99-123.
- Hughes, C.W., 2004. *Japan's Security Agenda Military, Economic & Environmental Dimensions*. Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Hughes, C.W., 2005. *Japan's Re-emergence as a 'Normal' Military Power Adelphi Paper 368-9*. London: Routledge.
- IFPA (Institute for Foreign Policy Analysis), 2015. Symposium on 'New Dynamics in Japanese Security Policy'. Massachusetts (MA), March 31. Massachusetts: IFPA.
- Jain, P. and Kobayashi, T., 2018. Abe's constitutional revision still a long way off. *East Asia Forum*, [online] 9 April. Available at:
 - http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2018/04/09/abes-constitutional-revision-still-a-long-way-off/ [Accessed 29 August 2018].
- Japan Aerospace Exploration Agency (JAXA), n.d. *Introduction of JAXA*. [online] Available at:
 - http://global.jaxa.jp/about/jaxa/index.html [Accessed 10 May 2018].
- Jarvis, L. and Holland, J., 2015. *Security: A Critical Introduction*. [e-book] London: Palgrave Macmillan. Available through: Lund University Library website https://www.lub.lu.se/ [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- Johnson, J., 2018. North Korea urges South to scrap military intelligence sharing deal with Japan. *The Japan Times*, [online] 30 May. Available at:
 - https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2018/05/30/national/politics-diplomacy/north-korea-urges-south-scrap-military-intelligence-sharing-deal-japan/#.W2oMCNIzaM9 [Accessed 7 August 2018].
- Katzenstein, P.J. and Okawara, N., 1993. Japan's National Security: Structures, Norms, and Policies. *International Security*, 17(4), pp.84-118.
- Kelly, T. and Kubo, N., 2015. Gulf War trauma began Japan's retreat from pacifism. *Reuters*, [online] 20 December. Available at:

- https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-military-history-insight/gulf-war-trauma-began-japans-retreat-from-pacifism-idUSKBN0U300D20151220 [Accessed 17 April 2018].
- Kelly, T. and Kubo, N., 2016. Exclusive: Japan to upgrade Patriot batteries for Olympics as North Korean missile threat grows: sources. *Reuters*, [online] 29 July. Available at:

 <a href="https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-northkorea-patriot-exclusive/exclusive-japan-to-upgrade-patriot-batteries-for-olympics-as-north-korean-missile-threat-grows-sources-idUSKCN1082W1 [Accessed 10 August 2018].
- Kelly, T. and Kubo, N., 2016. Japan opens radar stations close to disputed islands, drawing angry China response. *Reuters*, [online] 28 March. Available at:

 https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-china-eastchinasea/japan-opens-radar-station-close-to-disputed-east-china-sea-islands-idUSKCN0WT0QZ [Accessed 10 August 2018].
- Lee, L. and Lee, J., 2016. Japan-India Cooperation and Abe's Democratic Security Diamond: Possibilities, Limitations and the View from Southeast Asia. *Contemporary Southeast Asia*, 38(2), pp.284-308.
- Liff, A.P., 2015. Japan's Defense Policy: Abe the Evolutionary. *The Washington Quarterly*, 38(2), pp.79-99.
- Liff, A.P., 2018. Japan's Security Policy in the "Abe Era": Radical Transformation or Evolutionary Shift? *Texas National Security Review*, 1(3), pp.9-34.
- Malterud, K., 2001. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. *The Lancet*, 358, pp.483-488.
- Lockheed Martin, n.d. *F-35A In-flight refuelling*. [online] Lockheed Martin. Available at:

 https://www.f35.com/media/photos-detail/f-35a-aerial-refueling [Accessed 7 August 2018].
- Maslow, S., 2015. A Blueprint for a Strong Japan? Abe Shinzo and Japan's Evolving Security System. *Asian Survey*, 55(4), pp.739-765.
- McDonald, M., 2008. Constructivism. In: P.D. Williams ed. 2008. *Security Studies An Introduction*. London: Routledge. Ch. 5.

- Mauricio, T., 2014. The future of US-Japan military exercises. *East Asia Forum*, [online] 3 July. Available at:
 - http://www.eastasiaforum.org/2014/07/03/the-future-of-us-japan-military-exercises/ [Accessed 10 August 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 1997. The Guidelines for Japan-U.S. Defense Cooperation. [online] 23 September. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/e/d act/anpo/19970923.html [Accessed 7 March 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 2013a. Defense Programs and Budget of Japan FY 2013. [pdf] n.d. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/e/d budget/pdf/250516.pdf [Accessed 1 March 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 2013b. *National Defense Program Guidelines*. [pdf] 17 December. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/j/approach/agenda/guideline/2014/pdf/20131217_e2.pdf [Accessed 15 February 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 2014. *National Defense Program Guidelines*. [pdf] 17 December. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/j/approach/agenda/guideline/2014/pdf/20131217_e2.pdf [Accessed 1 April 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 2016. *Japan's Legislation for Peace and Security Seamless Responses* for Peace and Security of Japan and the International Community. [pdf] n.d. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/e/d_act/kokusai_heiwa/pdf/legislation_for_peace_and_security. pdf [Accessed 3 April 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, 2017. *Defense Programs and Budget of Japan* FY 2017. [pdf] n.d. Available at:
 - http://www.mod.go.jp/e/d budget/pdf/290328.pdf [Accessed 1 March 2018].
- Ministry of Defense, n.d. *Overview of Japan's Defense Policy*. [online] Available at: http://www.mod.go.jp/e/d act/d policy/pdf/english.pdf [Accessed 21 April 2018].

- Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2010. *The Signing of the Japan-Australia Acquisition and Cross-serving Agreement (ACSA)*. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan, [online] 19 May. Available at:
 - https://www.mofa.go.jp/announce/announce/2010/5/0519_02.html [Accessed 7 August 2018].
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2015. *The Guidelines for Japan-U.S. Defense Cooperation April* 27, 2015. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan, [pdf] April. Available at: https://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000078188.pdf [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- Mizokami, K., 2014. Five Japanese Weapons of War China Should Fear. *The National Interest*, [online] 14 June. Available at:
 - https://nationalinterest.org/feature/five-japanese-weapons-war-china-should-fear-10660 [Accessed 10 August 2018].
- Mizokami, K., 2016. Why Japan's Soryu-Class Submarines Are So Good. *The National Interest*, [online] 1 October. Available at:
 - https://nationalinterest.org/blog/the-buzz/why-japans-soryu-class-submarines-are-so-good-17898 [Accessed 10 August 2018].
- Moses, J. and Iwami, T., 2009. From pacifism to militarisation: liberal-democratic discourse and Japan's global role. *Global Change, Peace & Security*, 21(1), pp.69-84.
- Okano-Heijmans, M., 2012. *Japan's Security Posture in Asia: Changing tactics or strategy?*[pdf] Clingendael Netherlands Institute of International Relations. Available at:

 https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/20120700_art_okano-heijmans.pdf [Accessed 28 July 2018].
- Oros, A.L., 2008. *Normalizing Japan Politics, Identity, and the Evolution of Security Practice*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- Oros, A.L., 2015. International and domestic challenges to Japan's postwar security identity: 'norm constructivism' and Japan's new 'proactive pacifism'. *The Pacific Review*, 28(1), pp.139-160.
- Pacific Air Forces, 2010. Airmen prep JASDF F-15 pilots for air-to-air refueling. [online]
 Official United States Air Force Website Pacific Air Forces. Available at:

- http://www.pacaf.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/595049/airmen-prep-jasdf-f-15-pilots-for-air-to-air-refueling/ [Accessed 1 August 2018].
- Park, J. and Yun, S., 2016. Korea and Japan's Military Information Agreement: A Final Touch for the Pivot? *The Diplomat*, [online] 24 November. Available at:
 - https://thediplomat.com/2016/11/korea-and-japans-military-information-agreement-a-final-touch-for-the-pivot/ [Accessed 7 August 2018].
- Price, J.H. and Murnan, J., 2004. Research Limitations and the Necessity of Reporting Them. *American Journal of Health Education*, 35(2), pp.66-67.
- Pugliese, G., 2017. Kantei diplomacy? Japan's hybrid leadership in foreign and security policy. *The Pacific Review*, 30(2), pp.152-168.
- Pyle, K.B., 2007. *Japan Rising The Resurgence of Japanese power and Purpose*. New York: The Century Foundation Public Affairs.
- Pyle, K.B., 2014. The Sea Change in Japanese Foreign Policy. [online] *NBR Analysis Brief*. Available at:
 - http://www.nbr.org/publications/analysis/pdf/Brief/061714_Pyle_JapanSeaChange.pdf [Accessed 29 April 2018].
- Pyle, K.B., 2018. Japan's Return to Great Power Politics: Abe's Restoration. *Asia Policy*, 13(2), pp.69-90.
- Repeta, L., 2013. A New State Secrecy Law for Japan? 新たな秘密保護法? *The Asia Pacific Journal Japan Focus*, 11(42), n.p.
- Rosati, J.A., 1994. Cycles in Foreign Policy Restructuring: The Politics of Continuity and Change in U.S. Foreign Policy. In J.A. Rosati, J.D. Hagan and M.W. Sampson, eds. 1994. *Foreign Policy Restructuring: How Governments Respond to Global Change*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. Pp.221-261.
- Sakai, K., 2017. Japan, South Korea to keep sharing military intelligence. *Nikkei Asian Review*, [online] 4 June. Available at:
 - https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/Japan-South-Korea-to-keep-sharing-military-intelligence [Accessed 7 July 2018].

Sakaki, A., 2015. *Japan's Security Policy: A Shift in Direction under Abe?* [pdf] Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (German Institute for International and Security Affairs). Available at:

https://www.swp-

berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/research_papers/2015_RP02_skk.pdf [Accessed 4 May 2018].

- Samuels, R.J., 2006. Japan's Goldilock Strategy. Washington Quarterly, 29(4), pp.111-127.
- Samuels, R.J., 2007. Securing Japan: Tokyo's Grand Strategy and the Future of East Asia. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Scott, J.M. and Carter, R.G., 2016. Promoting democracy in Latin America: foreign policy change and US democracy assistance, 1975-2010. *Third World Quarterly*, 37(2), pp.299-320.
- Silverman, D., 2010. Doing Qualitative Research. 3rd ed. London: Sage Publications.
- Sinko, M., 2016. Policy Change Review of Classification, Measurement and Factors. *Teorija in Praksa*, 53(1), pp. 228-247.
- SIPRI, 2018. Arms Transfer Database Importer/Exporter TIV tables. [online] Available at: http://armstrade.sipri.org/armstrade/page/values.php [Accessed 1 July 2018].
- Skidmore, D., 1994. Explaining State Responses to International Change: The Structural Sources of Foreign Policy Rigidity and Change. In J.A. Rosati, J.D. Hagan and M.W. Sampson, eds. 1994. *Foreign Policy Restructuring: How Governments Respond to Global Change*. Columbia: University of South Carolina Press. Pp. 43-61.
- Smith, F.M., 1996. Problematising language: limitations and possibilities in 'foreign language' research. *Area*, 28(2), pp.160-166.
- Strategic Headquarters for Space Policy (Government of Japan), 2013. *Basic Plan on Space Policy*. [pdf] Cabinet Office of Japan. Available at:

 http://www8.cao.go.jp/space/plan/plan-eng.pdf [Accessed 15 February 2018].
- Sword, W., 1999. Accounting for Presence of Self: Reflections on Doing Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(2), pp.270-278.

- Takao, Y., 2008. *Is Japan Really Remilitarising? The politics of norm formation and change.* Clayton: Monash University Press.
- Tang, S-M., 2007. Japan's Security Renaissance: Evolution or Revolution? *Journal of International and Area Studies*, 14(1), pp.17-29.
- The Japan Times, 2013. NSC council has dangerous flaws. *The Japan Times*, [online] 1 December. Available at:
 - https://www.japantimes.co.jp/opinion/2013/12/01/editorials/nsc-council-has-dangerous-flaws/#. WxTdqEiFOM8 [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- The Japan Times, 2014. South Korea to return ammunition provided by Japan. *The Japan Times*, [online] 27 December. Available at:
 - https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2013/12/27/national/south-korea-to-return-ammunition-provided-by-japan/#.W2tVJNIzaM8 [Accessed 8 July 2018].
- The Japan Times, 2018. Shotaro Yachi's National Security Council eyes bigger policymaking role in 2018. *The Japan Times*, [online] 6 January. Available at:
 - https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2018/01/06/national/politics-diplomacy/shotaro-yachis-national-security-council-eyes-bigger-policymaking-role-2018/#.WxTbVUiFOM8 [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- The Mainichi Shimbun, 2017. Japan Science Council panel draft statement upholds rejection of military research. *The Mainichi*, [online] 7 March. Available at: https://mainichi.jp/english/articles/20170307/p2a/00m/0na/004000c [Accessed 20 April 2018].
- The Mainichi Shimbun, 2017. Science Council of Japan passes draft statement rejecting military research. *The Mainichi*, [online] 25 March. Available at: https://mainichi.jp/english/articles/20170325/p2a/00m/0na/007000c [Accessed 20 April 2018].
- The New York Times, 2013. *Opinion Japan's Proactive Pacifism*. [caricature] Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2013/12/20/opinion/japans-proactive-pacifism.html [Accessed 10 July 2018].

- The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet (Kantei), 2012. *Press Conference by Prime Minister Shinzo Abe*. [online] The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet. Available at:
 - http://japan.kantei.go.jp/96_abe/statement/201212/26kaiken_e.html [Accessed 1 August 2018].
- The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet (Kantei), 2013. *Advisory Council on the Establishment of a National Security Council*. [online] The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet. Available at:
 - http://japan.kantei.go.jp/96_abe/actions/201302/15ka_yusiki_e.html [Accessed 4 June 2018].
- The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet (Kantei), 2013. *National Security Strategy*. [pdf] 17 December. Available at:
 - http://japan.kantei.go.jp/96_abe/documents/2013/__icsFiles/afieldfile/2013/12/17/NSS .pdf [Accessed 9 March 2018].
- The Prime Minister of Japan and His Cabinet (Kantei), 2014. *National Defense Program Guidelines for FY 2014 and beyond (Summary)*. [pdf] 17 December. Available at:

 http://japan.kantei.go.jp/96_abe/documents/2013/_icsFiles/afieldfile/2013/12/17/ND_PG(Summary).pdf [Accessed 7 March 2018].
- United States Department of Defense (USDOD), 2015. *The Guidelines for U.S.-Japan Defense Cooperation April 27, 2015.* [pdf] 27 April. Available at:
 - https://www.defense.gov/Portals/1/Documents/pubs/20150427_-__GUIDELINES_FOR_US-JAPAN_DEFENSE_COOPERATION.pdf [Accessed 1
 August 2018].
- Wakefield, B., and Craig, M., 2014. Reexamining "Myths" About Japan's Collective Self-Defense Change What critics (and the Japanese public) do understand about Japan's constitutional reinterpretation. [online] *The Asia Pacific Journal Japan Focus*. Available at:
 - https://apjjf.org/-Bryce-Wakefield/4803/article.html [Accessed 10 July 2018].

- Wallace, C., 2013. *Does the Izumo Represent Japan Crossing the "Offensive" Rubicon?* [online] Available at: http://jsw.newpacificinstitute.org/?p=11000 [Accessed 22 April 2018].
- Wallace, C.,2013. *SDF Capabilities and War Potential*. [online] Available at: http://jsw.newpacificinstitute.org/?p=10981 [Accessed 22 April 2018].
- Yamagami, S., 2016. Japan's New National Security Policy "Proactive Contribution to Peace". *Review of International Law & Politics*, 12(2), pp.23-31.